

## LUND UNIVERSITY

#### Epidemiology of stroke in an urban population - aspects of time, place and person

Khan, Farhad

2004

#### Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Khan, F. (2004). *Epidemiology of stroke in an urban population - aspects of time, place and person*. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation)]. Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University.

Total number of authors:

#### General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors

and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00





## Farhad Ali Khan

Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö Lund University 2005 From the Department of Clinical Sciences in Malmö; Epidemiological Research Group, University Hospital of Malmö, Lund University, Sweden

# Epidemiology of stroke in an urban population- aspects of time, place and person

Farhad Ali Khan



## FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Lund University

#### Akademisk avhandling

som, med vederbörligt tillstånd av Medicinska Fakulteten vid Lunds Universitet, för avläggande av doktorsexamen i medicinsk vetenskap, kommer att offentligen försvaras i Jubileumsaulan, Medicinskt forskningscentrum, Universitetssjukhuset MAS, Malmö Onsdagen den 8 juni, 2005, kl 13.00 Opponent: Docent Birgitta Stegmayr Handledare: Docent Gunnar Engström

Organiz	ation
LUND	UNIVERSITY

Department of Clinical Sciences in Malmö Epidemiological Research Group University Hospital of Malmö 205 02 Malmö, Sweden Document name DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Date of issue June 8, 2005

Sponsoring organization

#### Author(s)

Farhad Ali Khan

#### Title and subtitle

The epidemiology of stroke in an urban population- aspects of time, place and person

#### Abstract

The present thesis explored the epidemiology of stroke in Malmö, Sweden, an urban population of approximately 250000 inhabitants. Incidence of stroke in Malmö has been monitored since 1989. The National census investigation in 1990 was used to get information about the background population in the city. Previous studies of the seasonal and weekday variations in incidence of stroke have shown inconsistent results. In this study, the temporal variation in stroke incidence was explored among 7129 patients with a first stroke between 1989 and 1999. No relationship could be found between season or weekday and incidence of stroke. However, the mortality rates (within 28 days) were significantly higher among patients with stroke in winter. Several studies have shown that divorced or widowed men and women have higher mortality rates than those who are married. Whether incidence of stroke similarly differ between these groups is less clear. In a study of stroke incidence in Malmö between 1990 and 2000, we found that incidence of stroke was increased in divorced men and women and in widows/widowers. Never married men had not any increased risk. Among men and women who initially were married, divorce or death of spouse was followed by an increased incidence of stroke.

Previous studies have shown that incidence of stroke varies between countries or between ethnic groups. We explored whether incidence of stroke was related to country of birth. Inhabitants from former Yugoslavia and Hungary had an increased risk of ischaemic stroke. People from former Soviet Union and China or Vietnam had an increased risk of intracerebral haemorrhage, and people born in Finland had an increased risk of subarachnoid haemorrhage. People born in Romania had lower risk than those born in Sweden. Previous studies from the city have shown that incidence of stroke show substantial differences between the residential areas in the city. Areas with high incidence are characterised by less favorable socioeconomic circumstances. We explored whether the survival among the stroke cases similarly was related to the residential area. The 28-day mortality, 1-year mortality and long-term mortality (until 2001) was higher in patients from areas with low socioeconomic level. These relationships reached significance mainly for the longer follow-up periods and for patients below 75 years of age.

It is concluded that incidence of stroke is related to marital status and country of birth. The residential area and season of the stroke event are associated with the prognosis after the stroke.

Key words: Stroke, case fatality, temporal trends, marital status, life events, stroke outcome, survival, ethnic groups, incidence, epidemiology, geography, Sweden.

Classification system and/or index termes (if any):		
Supplementary bibliographical information:		Language
		English
ISSN and key title:		ISBN
1652-8220, Epidemiology of stroke		91-85439-25-8
Recipient's notes	Number of pages	Price
	Security classification	

Distribution by (name and address) Farhad Ali Khan, Department of Clinical Sciences in Malmö I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

May 13, 2005

Date

Signature Farhad All' Than

From Department of Clinical Sciences Malmö University Hospital Lund University, Sweden

# Epidemiology of stroke in an urban population - aspects of time, place and person

Farhad Ali Khan



FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Malmö 2005

ISSN 1652-8220 ISBN 91-85439-25-8 Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2005:18

Copyright © Farhad Ali Khan

Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö, Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, University Hospital of Malmö, SE-205 02 Malmö, Sweden

Printed in Sweden by Print@soc, Lund, 2005

Till min hustru Boel och min dotter Catherine Till minnet av min far Moksed Ali Khan "Whoever wished to investigate medicine properly should proceed thus: in the first place to consider the seasons of the year, and what effects each of them produces. Then the winds, the hot and the cold, especially such as are common to all countries, and then such as are peculiar to each locality. In the same manner, when one comes into a city to which he is a stranger, he should consider its situation, how it lies as to the winds and the rising of the sun; for its influence is not the same whether it lies to the north or the south, to the rising or to the setting sun. One should consider most attentively the waters which the inhabitants use, whether they be marshy and soft, or hard and running from elevated and rocky situations, and then if saltish and unfit for cooking; and the ground, whether it be naked and deficient in water, or wooded and well watered, and whether it lies in a hollow, confined situation, or is elevated and cold; and the mode in which the inhabitants live, and what are their pursuits, whether they are fond of drinking and eating to excess, and given to indolence, or are fond of exercise and labor."

(Hippocrates, "Airs, Waters, Places", 400 BC)

## Contents

Paper III Paper IV

	Page
Abstract	6
Definitions	7
Abbreviations	13
List of original papers	14
Introduction	16
Aims	
General aim	23
Specific aims	23
Study population and design	24
Statistical methods (Papers I, II, III, IV)	29
Results and conclusions (Papers I, II, III, IV)	31
General discussion	44
Conclusions	54
Summary in Swedish (Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning)	55
Acknowledgements	59
References	62
Appendix	79
Paper I	
Paper II	

7

## Abstract

The present thesis explored the epidemiology of stroke in Malmö, Sweden, an urban population of approximately 250000 inhabitants. Incidence of stroke in Malmö has been monitored since 1989. The National census investigation in 1990 was used to get information about the background population in the city.

Previous studies of the seasonal and weekday variations in incidence of stroke have shown inconsistent results. In this study, the temporal variation in stroke incidence was explored among 7129 patients with a first stroke between 1989 and 1999. No relationship could be found between season or weekday and incidence of stroke. However, the case-fatality rate (within 28 days) was significantly higher among patients with stroke in winter.

Several studies have shown that divorced or widowed men and women have higher mortality rates than those who are married. Whether incidence of stroke similarly differ between these groups is less clear. In a study of stroke incidence in Malmö between 1990 and 2000, we found that incidence of stroke was increased in divorced men and women and in widows/widowers. Never married men had not any increased risk. Among men and women who initially were married, divorce or death of spouse was followed by an increased incidence of stroke.

Previous studies have shown that incidence of stroke varies between countries and ethnic groups. We explored whether incidence of stroke was related to country of birth. Inhabitants from former Yugoslavia and Hungary had an increased risk of ischemic stroke. People from former Soviet Union and China or Vietnam had an increased risk of intracerebral haemorrhage, and people born in Finland had an increased risk of subarachnoid haemorrhage. People born in Rumania had lower risk than those born in Sweden.

Previous studies from the city have shown that incidence of stroke show substantial differences between the residential areas in the city. Areas with high incidence are characterised by less favourable socioeconomic circumstances. We explored whether the survival among the stroke cases similarly was related to the residential area. The 28-day mortality, 1-year mortality and long-term mortality (until 2001) was higher in patients from areas with low socioeconomic level. These relationships reached significance mainly for the longer follow-up periods and for patients below 75 years of age.

It is concluded that incidence of stroke is related to marital status and country of birth. The residential area and season of the stroke event are associated with the prognosis after the stroke.

Key words: Stroke, case fatality, temporal trends, marital status, life events, stroke outcome, survival, ethnic groups, incidence, epidemiology, geography, Sweden.

# Definitions

Age standardisation	A procedure for adjusting rates, e.g., death rates, designed to minimize the effects of differences in	
	age composition when comparing rates for	
	different populations.	
Case fatality rate	The proportion of cases of a specified condition	
	which are fatal within a specified time. A case	
	fatality rate is calculated as follows:	
	No. of individuals dying during a specified period of time after disease onsetCase Fatality Rate (%) =or diagnosis or diagnosis 	
Chi-squared test ( $\chi^2$ test)	A test to determine whether the proportions or event rates of two or more groups are different.	
Confidence Interval	A range of values for a variable of interest, e.g., a	
	rate, constructed so that this range has a specified	
	probability of including the true value of the	
	variable. The specified probability is called the	
	confidence level, and the end points of the	
	confidence interval are called the confidence	
	limits. It is the measure of the precision within	
	which one can estimate a mean, proportion or	
	relative risk. In general a confidence interval	

	estimate of a given population parameter can be calculated using the following formula:
	Endpoints of interval=estimate±(confidence coefficient (1.96) X standard error of the estimate),
	which means that in 95% of cases out of 100 contain the true population value.
Cohort Study	The analytical method of epidemiologic study in which subsets of a defined population (cohort) is followed over a period of time and the effect of exposures (treatment or risk factors) is investigated.
Conditional Logistic Regression	In analysis of data from matched case-control studies, to take into account of matching a method known as conditional logistic regression is used. The logic for conditional logistic regression is the same as McNemer's test. When the exposure is the same for both case and control, the pair do not contribute to the estimate of the odds ratio. It is only when they differ; one can calculate an odds ratio.
Cox Proportional Hazard	(Proportional Hazard Model) A statistical model in survival analysis developed by D. R. Cox in 1972 asserting that the effect of the study factors on the HAZARD RATE in the study population is multiplicative and does not change over time.

For example, the model for two factors  $x_1$  and  $x_2$  asserts that the rate at time t  $\lambda$  (t), is given by  $e^{\beta_1 X_1 + \beta_2 X_2} \lambda_0$  (t) where  $\lambda_0$  (t) is the rate when  $x_1 = x_2 = 0$ , and *e* is the base of the natural logarithm.

The study of the distribution and determinants of health-related states or events in specified populations, and the application of this study to control of health problems. "Study" includes surveillance, observation, hypothesis testing, analytic research, and experiments. "Distribution" refers to analysis by time, place, and classes of persons affected. "Determinants" are all the physical, biological, social, cultural, and behavioural factors that influence health. "Health-related states and events" include diseases, causes of death, behaviours such use of tobacco, reactions to preventive regimens, and provision, and use of health services. "Specified populations" are those with identifiable characteristics such as precisely defined numbers. "Application to control..." makes explicit the aims of epidemiology- to promote, protect, and restore health.

Incidence Rate The rate at which new events occur in a population. The numerator is the number of new events that occur in a defined period; the denominator is the population at risk of

Epidemiology

13

experiencing the event during this period, sometimes expressed as person-time.

Logistic regression analysis A mathematical modelling approach that can be used to describe the relationship of several independent variable to a dichotomous dependent variable. Given data on a dichotomous dependent variable y and one or more independent variables  $x_1$ ,  $x_2$ , etc., regression analysis involves finding the "best" mathematical model to describe y as a function of x's, or to predict y from the x's. Mortality Rate (Death Rate) An estimate of the portion of a population that dies during a specified period. The numerator is the number of persons dying during the period; the denominator is the number in the population, usually estimated as the midyear population. Nested Case Control Study A hybrid design in which a case-control study is nested in a cohort study. This design is applied to a population already identified in an existing study, in which cases and controls are drawn from a population which is already under investigation in a cohort study. **Poisson Distribution** Variables that denote the number of occurrences of an event or object in a certain unit of time or space are distributed according to the Poisson distribution named after Simeon Denis Poisson (1781-1840). The distribution is based on the assumption that the events occur randomly,

independently of one another, and with an average rate that does not change over time. It is used to determine the probability distribution of random occurrence of discrete events. The formula for calculating Poisson probabilities is

 $\Pr(X=x)=\frac{e^{-\lambda}\lambda^x}{x!}$ 

Where X represents the variable number of cases in a population, Pr(X=x) represents the probability of observing x cases, e=universal constant and  $\lambda$  represents the average number of occurrences of the event.

Poisson RegressionPoisson regression is a method for multiple<br/>regression analysis of cohort data with a<br/>dichotomous outcome and one or more<br/>categorically defined predictors. It is mostly used<br/>in situations when the outcomes of interest are<br/>rates (and rate ratio); it is especially suitable for<br/>studying rare diseases in large populations. The<br/>model specifies that the magnitude of the rate is<br/>an exponential function of a linear combination<br/>of covariates and unknown parameters.Relative risk1. The ratio of the risk of disease or death among

the exposed to the risk among the unexposed; this usage is synonymous with RISK RATIO.

2. Alternatively, the ratio of the cumulative incidence rate in the exposed to the cumulative incidence rate in the unexposed, i.e., the rate ratio.

# Abbreviations

CI	Confidence interval
СТ	Computerized Tomography
FoB	Folk- och bostadsräkning (Population and Housing Census)
HR	Hazards Ratio
ICD code	International Classification of Diseases
IS	Ischemic Stroke or Cerebral infarction (CI)
ICH	Intracerebral haemorrhage
MONICA	Multinational Monitoring of Trends and Determinants in Cardiovascular Disease
OR	Odds ratio
RTB	Register över totalbefolkning, RTB (Population Register)
RR	Relative risk
SAH	Subarachnoid haemorrhage
SCB	Statistiska Centralbyrån (Statistics Sweden)
SES	Socioeconomic status
STROMA	Stroke Register in Malmö
TIA	Transient ischemic attack
WHO	World Health Organization

## List of original papers

This thesis is based on the following publications which will be referred to by their Roman numerals:

- I. Khan FA, Engström G, Jerntorp I, Pessah-Rasmussen H, Janzon L. Seasonal patterns of incidence and case fatality of Stroke in Malmö, Sweden: The STROMA study. Neuroepidemiology 2005;24:26-31.
- II. Engström G, Khan FA, Zia E, Jerntorp I, Pessah-Rasmussen H, Norrving B, Janzon L. Marital dissolution is followed by an increased incidence of stroke. Cerebrovasc Dis 2004;18:318–324.
- III. Khan FA, Zia E, Janzon L, Engström G. Incidence of stroke and stroke subtypes in Malmö, Sweden, 1990-2000. Marked differences between groups defined by country of birth. Stroke. 2004 Sep;35(9):2054-8.
- IV. Khan FA, Pessah-Rasmussen H, Janzon L, Engström G. Neighbourhood and survival after stroke- an 11-year follow up study of stroke patients in Malmö, Sweden. (Manuscript).

Papers I and II are reproduced by permission of S. Karger AG, Basel. Paper III is reproduced by permission of Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Medical Research.

#### Supervisor:

Dr. Gunnar Engström, MD, PhD; Associate Professor of Epidemiology, Lund University

Assistant supervisor: Dr Hélène Pessah-Rasmussen, MD, PhD; Senior Consultant

#### **Faculty Opponent:**

Dr. Birgitta Stegmayr, PhD, Associate Professor Department of Public Health and Clinical Medicine Umeå University, Sweden

#### Chairperson of the dissertation ceremony:

Professor Lars Janzon, MD, PhD Professor of Epidemiology, Lund University

#### **Examining committee:**

#### **Members:**

Dr. Martin Lindström, MD, PhD; Associate Professor

Dr. Arne Lindgren, MD, PhD; Associate Professor

Dr. Finnur Magnusson, PhD, Associate Professor

#### **Deputy members:**

Dr. Ulf Lindblad, MD, PhD; Associate Professor Dr. Anders Gottsäter, MD, PhD; Associate Professor

## Introduction

Stroke is a major public health problem in Sweden. The number stroke victims per year in Sweden are around 30,000. It is the third most common cause of death<sup>1</sup>. The total need for inpatient care is higher than for any other somatic disease<sup>2</sup>. The major part of the health care cost in Sweden is related to care and rehabilitation of stroke patients<sup>3, 4</sup>.

According to the World Health Organization (WHO) definition, stroke a clinical syndrome characterized by the sudden onset of a focal neurological deficit (or coma) due to infarction of, or haemorrhage into or over, a part of the brain. The deficit persists for longer than 24 hours or leads to earlier death<sup>5</sup>. Episodes that last less than 24 hours are called transient ischemic attacks (TIAs). Figure 1 illustrates a schematic view of pathogenesis of stroke. Stroke is multi-aetiological disease. Cerebral infarction or Ischemic Stroke (IS) that accounts for about 85% of all stroke events in Sweden<sup>6</sup> is mostly caused by extracranial or intracranial large artery atherothromboembolism (50%), small artery microatheroma/ lipohyalinosis (25%), embolism from the heart (20%), blood disease (<5%), non atheromatous arterial disease (e.g. dissection, arteritis)  $(\langle 5\% \rangle)^7$ . Intracerebral haemorrhage (ICH) accounts for about 10% of all stroke events. The major underlying causes of ICH are hypertensive lipohyalinosis and microaneurysms (40%), amyloid angiopathy (10%) bleeding diatheses (e.g. antithrombotic drugs, thrombocytopenia) (10%), arteriovenous malformation (10%) and aneurysm (8%); less common causes of ICH are arteritis, drugs as amphetamines and cocaine, arterial dissection and intracranial venous thrombosis. Subarachnoid haemorrhage (SAH) accounts for about 5 % of all stroke events, it is caused by bleeding from aneurysm or arteriovenous malformation<sup>8</sup>.

As stroke encompasses a heterogeneous group of vascular diseases, many factors predispose to or increase the risk of having stroke. Age is the single



Figure 1. A schematic view of the brain and type of stroke

most common factor that predicts a high risk for stroke<sup>9</sup>. The likelihood of stroke is also higher among men<sup>10</sup>. Apart from age and sex other factors that increase the risk of stroke are high blood pressure, smoking, alcohol, family history and previous heart disease and atrial fibrillation<sup>11</sup>. Previous transient ischemic attack (TIA)<sup>12</sup>, diabetes mellitus<sup>13</sup>, sedentary life-style<sup>14</sup>, inferior social circumstances<sup>15</sup>, country of residence<sup>16</sup>, diet<sup>17</sup>, use of particular medications (e.g. oral anti coagulants)<sup>18,19</sup> and climate (cold weather)<sup>20</sup> are reported to be predisposing risk factors. Besides, inflammation can contribute to stroke risk via various interrelated mechanisms<sup>21</sup>. Recently, some studies raised a cautionary flag about the risk of cardiovascular events associated with use of COX-2 inhibitors when used for arthritis and musculoskeletal pain<sup>22</sup>. Infectious diseases, traditional risk factors, and genetic susceptibility may

cooperate in stimulating inflammatory pathways<sup>23</sup>. Stroke is more common among blacks than this among whites<sup>24</sup> and also more common in Eastern Europe than this in Western Europe<sup>25</sup>.

The consequence of stroke has been widely studied. The 28-day case fatality rate varied threefold in the WHO MONICA study<sup>26</sup>. Case fatality rates also vary between subtypes of stroke<sup>27</sup>. There is a downward trend in case fatality rate shown in several studies<sup>28.</sup> The risk of recurrent stroke event is highest in the first month and fall gradually over the years. The cumulative rate of death or recurrent stroke over 5 year is about 60%<sup>29</sup>. Recurrent stroke is more common among survivors of haemorrhagic stroke than it is among patients with ischemic stroke<sup>30, 31</sup>. Stroke patients have to live with worsened quality of life even after recovery from most of the functional impairments which cause a huge social burden<sup>32, 33</sup>. Disability, dependency and the social and emotional consequence of stroke and above all quality of life of stroke patients have been widely reported in many studies<sup>34, 35</sup>.

### Temporal patterns of stroke

The temporal patterns of stroke have been studied in relation to year of incidence, season, weekday and diurnal patterns. In a recent study from Malmö, it was shown that incidence of stroke increased between the time period 1989-1999<sup>36</sup>. This is in accordance with other studies on stroke incidence during the 90's in Sweden<sup>37, 38</sup>, but opposite to the results in a study in Gothenburg studying stroke incidence under the period 1971-87<sup>39</sup>. Seasonal variations of the incidence of stroke have been reported from studies conducted in different parts of the world. The findings are however not consistent. Some have shown an increased incidence in winter<sup>40, 41</sup>, while others reported that the highest incidence occur either in autumn <sup>42, 43, 44</sup> or in spring<sup>45</sup>. A recent study from Australia found that the stroke attack rates were

highest in the winter and lowest in the summer. From February (summer) to July (winter), there was a significant increase of the stroke attack rates. This increase was seen mainly in those  $\geq 65$  years of age <sup>46</sup>. Case-fatality rates showed similar trends with a 1- to 2-month lag compared with attack rates. Seasonal variations have also been reported for specific subtype of the stroke<sup>47</sup>. Several studies have reported on variability of stroke occurrence by day of the week with higher incidence and case fatality on Monday<sup>48, 49</sup>. Some studies also reported diurnal variation of stroke incidence and fatality rates with peaks in the morning hours<sup>50-52</sup>. To our knowledge, few in the northern Europe have studied case fatality of stroke by season<sup>53, 54</sup>.

### Marital status, marital dissolution and stroke

Several studies have reported higher mortality rates among unmarried individuals as compared to those who are married<sup>55-63</sup>. Deaths from many different causes, including cardiovascular diseases, contribute to the reduced life expectancy for the unmarried<sup>55, 56, 61</sup>. To what extent marital status is related to incidence and subtypes of stroke is however unclear. Some studies have reported a lower incidence of stroke in married people<sup>64-66</sup>; others reported non-significant differences<sup>59, 67</sup>, while in one study risk of stroke was higher in married subjects<sup>68</sup>. Most previous studies in this field have analysed the different unmarried states together<sup>65-68</sup>. In one study incidence of stroke tended to be higher in never married men, widowers and divorced men compared to the married group, although the differences were nonsignificant<sup>59</sup>. In a study of hospital admissions diagnosed with cerebrovascular disease (ICD 430-438), the proportion of never married and divorced men was higher than expected. However, no consistent relationship between marital status and stroke was observed when men with history of alcoholism were excluded $^{64}$ .

In recent years, more interest has been shown on the health effects of change in marital status, rather than differences between married and unmarried groups. Longitudinal studies have reported that divorce and widowhood is followed by an increased mortality<sup>55, 56, 62, 69, 70</sup>. No previous study has explored whether incidence rate of stroke is increased during the first years after marital dissolution.

### Stroke incidence and migration

Stroke incidences show substantial differences between countries<sup>71</sup>. In the WHO-Monica study, the incidence of stroke was, in general, higher among populations in eastern than in Western Europe. It was also relatively high in the Chinese population studied, particularly among women. The study showed large differences in stroke incidence among populations and case-fatality rates contribute to the more than threefold difference in stroke mortality rates among populations<sup>72</sup>. Widening differences in both attack rates and case fatality rates between East and West were also found<sup>25, 73, 74.</sup> Substantial differences between geographical areas characterised by specific ethnic groups within countries were also noted. A concentration of high stroke mortality rates in the South eastern states in the USA was noted as a persistent distribution pattern which is termed as "the stroke belt" <sup>75, 76</sup>. Studies from the United States, the United Kingdom and other countries 77-89 have shown differences in stroke mortality rates between ethnic groups that only partially can be explained by a higher prevalence of hypertension and other established risk factors<sup>77, 78</sup>. Studies of incidence of stroke are however sparse<sup>77-80</sup>, and no previous study have been retrieved in which incidence of stroke and stroke subtypes has been compared among different immigrants groups. Many studies have reported higher stroke mortality rate among immigrants, e.g., among Carribeans in UK<sup>90</sup>. Mortality from cerebrovascular disease was

highest in Caribbeans followed by Africans and Indians who had higher rates than Irish and other west Europeans in UK<sup>82</sup>. However in some studies, lower rates of mortality have been reported among immigrants compared to the indigenous population and to their country of origin. For whites and blacks and for each of the respective race/sex groups in the USA, immigrants had markedly lower age-adjusted stroke mortality rates compared to the entire USborn resident population and the US-born interregional migrant population<sup>91</sup>. Another study in the USA describes that the Native Americans, the Asians and the Hispanics have lower stroke mortality rates than the Non-Hispanic Whites<sup>92</sup>. There are substantial socioeconomic differences between the residential areas in the city of Malmö. Areas with a high incidence of stroke are characterised by inferior socioeconomic circumstances and a large proportion of immigrants<sup>93</sup>. The age-adjusted incidence of stroke has increased in Malmö during the last years<sup>36</sup>, and the number of immigrants has increased dramatically. However whether incidence of stroke differs between immigrants from different countries and native born Swedes has been unclear.

### Neighbourhood and survival after stroke

Studies on incidence of stroke from different parts of the world showed substantial geographical variations both between and within countries<sup>25, 72, 94</sup>. Studies on stroke incidence and stroke mortality have shown that differences with respect to the prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors, as well as the socioeconomic circumstances, could account for a major part of these differences<sup>93, 95</sup>. The geographical differences in disease occurrence could hence indicate a potential for prevention. However, whether short- and long-term survival after stroke similarly is related to the geographic area is less clear. Studies on long-term survival after stroke are particularly uncommon in this context.

The city of Malmö, is divided into 18 administrative areas. Previous studies have shown that the incidence of myocardial infarction and of the short and long-term rates of survival after MI differ between the areas<sup>96, 97</sup>. A recent study from the Stroke Register of Malmö, Sweden (STROMA), showed that the incidence of stroke in these areas ranged from 437 to 743 for men and from 223 to 518 among women, and that incidence of stroke was significantly associated with the socioeconomic level of the area<sup>93</sup>. Whether the short and long-term survival after stroke differs similarly between the areas has been unclear.

## Aims

## General aim

Epidemiology is the study of the distribution and determinants of healthrelated states or events in specified populations. Distribution refers to analysis by time, place and classes of person's affected<sup>98</sup>. The general aim of this thesis was to study the different aspects of stroke epidemiology, by exploring the relationships with season and week-days (time), residential area (place) and ethnicity, marital status and marital dissolution (person).

## Specific aims

- To investigate the weekly, monthly and seasonal variations in incidence and 28-day case-fatality of stroke (Paper I).
- To investigate the marital status-specific incidence of stroke, and the risk of stroke following marital dissolution, in an unselected urban population (Paper II).
- To investigate the incidence of stroke and stroke subtypes in relation to country of birth (Paper III).
- To investigate whether short- and long-term survival after first-ever stroke was related to the socioeconomic circumstances of the residential areas (Paper IV).

## Study population and design

### STROMA

A stroke register to collect data on all stroke cases in Malmö (STROMA) was established in 1989<sup>99</sup>. The purpose of the register was to monitor incidence of stroke in the population of Malmö from Jan 1st, 1989, and onwards. Both inpatients and out-patients are included. STROMA consists of two parts, an incidence register and a recurrence register. The incidence register includes all patients who had their first stroke after January 1989. Recurrent stroke after 1989 are also included. The recurrence register includes recurrent stroke events among patients who had the first stroke event before 1989. Only the incidence register has been used in this thesis and only the first ever stroke event have been studied.

The criterion of stroke was according to World Health Organization definition of stroke, which is rapid development of clinical signs of local or global loss of cerebral function lasting for more than 24 hours or leading to death within 24 hours, with no apparent non-vascular cause<sup>5</sup>. By definition patients with transient ischemic attacks were excluded. With the use of International Classification of Disease, Ninth Revision (ICD-9), cases were classified as subarachnoid haemorrhage (SAH, ICD-9 code 430), intracerebral haemorrhage (ICH, ICD-9 code 431), cerebral infarction (CI) or Ischemic Stroke (IS) (ICD-9 code 434) and undetermined pathological type of strokes (UND, ICD-9 code 436)<sup>100</sup>. The diagnosis of stroke was preliminarily established based on history and symptoms. Clinical investigations were mainly used for subtype classification. The diagnosis ICH (431) was confirmed by CT and/or autopsy; the diagnosis CI (434) was established when

CT and or/autopsy confirmed CI or excluded ICH and non vascular causes; if neither CT, nor autopsy were undertaken, the stroke was classified as UND (436). SAH (430) was confirmed by CT, lumbar puncture or autopsy.

### Quality of STROMA

The accuracy of the diagnosis in STROMA has been ensured by critical appraisal of each case by a specialized research nurse under the supervision of a senior physician. The case-finding is conducted by a "hot-pursuit" approach. Patients hospitalised due to stroke are "pursuited" at the emergency unit and at the in-patients wards of neurology and internal medicine. Non-hospitalised patients referred from the primary care as well as patients who suffer a stroke while hospitalised for other diagnosis (e.g. myocardial infarction, hip fracture) are "pursuited" at the neurology out-patient clinic. The case-finding of the STROMA register includes a broad search among patients with neurological symptoms (loss of motor function, vertigo, loss of vision, headache, etc.) which could indicate a stroke event. The medical records of these patients are searched for previous stroke events and the present and previous episodes are validated according to the stroke criteria. For each stroke event that fulfils the stroke criteria, approximately 10 medical records have been scrutinized.

The STROMA register takes advantage of the infrastructure of the health care in Malmö. There is only one hospital for a background population of approximately 250,000 individuals during the study period. Patients with acute stroke symptoms mostly go directly to the emergency unit, and no referral note is needed. If they contact the primary care first, they are directly sent to the hospital in case of acute symptoms or referred to the neurology outpatient clinic if the patient shows any history of stroke symptoms. Nursing homes cooperate with the hospital and in case of stroke event at the nursing

home patients are directly sent to the hospital. Until 1995, all nursing homes were contacted regularly in order to ensure that all cases had been covered by STROMA. However, it was found that all cases were refereed to CT examinations, and retrieved by the case-finding procedure at the hospital. The nursing homes were therefore not systematically visited after 1995.

One question is whether some patients were missed who died from stroke outside hospital. This was addressed in a study by Dr. Helene Pessah-Rasmussen (unpublished). The autopsy records of all out-of-hospital deaths during the years 1989-1990 were reviewed. During this period, autopsy examinations were performed for virtually all out-of-hospital deaths in the city. During these two years, seven stroke cases that died out-of-hospital were missed by STROMA. This was approximately 0.6% of all stroke events during these two years. This is in accordance with the observations from an ongoing quality assurance, in which individuals who died from stroke according to the cause of death register, and who were not included in STROMA, have been reviewed. These investigations have shown that very few cases that fulfil the stroke criteria can be added by using the cause of death register. On the contrary, stroke cases that are included in the cause of death register and not in STROMA are almost exclusively false positive cases.

Many patients with stroke (approximately 25%) will later have a recurrent event<sup>101</sup>. The recurrence rate of stroke among STROMA incidence cases was almost close to those figures. One measure of the completeness of the register could be the number of stroke events that are detected, and that should have been detected previously. This number is very small (less than 6 per year) and mainly citizens from Malmö that suffered from stroke abroad or at another hospital in Sweden. During the period from October 1st, 2004, to February 28th, 2005), only 1 case was detected that should have been detected earlier. This patient suffered from stroke in 1999 and was treated at a hospital in the

north of Sweden. During this period, approximately 300 stroke events were included in STROMA and about 3000 medical records were searched.



Figure 2. Map of the city of Malmö and it's geographical areas

### Record linkage with other national registers

The STROMA register has been linked with other national register. The Population Census Data<sup>102</sup> from 1990 includes information about all (232000) inhabitants in Malmö (Fig. 1) residing in 18 areas. The population living in the city on 1<sup>st</sup> November, 1990 has been followed up by record linkage with other data bases until 31st January 2001 or until death, or emigration from Malmö. Information about income and socioeconomic status during this period was retrieved from the Total Population Register<sup>103</sup>. Information about cause of death was collected from The National Register of Cause of Death<sup>1</sup>.

### Residential areas and socioeconomic score

Malmö's citizens live in 18 areas that exhibit substantial differences in terms of socioeconomic circumstances and number of inhabitants<sup>104</sup>. The harbour area was excluded from the study because so few people lived there; thus, a total of 17 areas were studied. Socioeconomic profile of the areas is based on official statistics from the Malmö City Council and data from Statistics Sweden. We have created a socioeconomic score for each area calculated from the following indicators per area: migration rate, percentage of residents with foreign citizenship as a proportion of all citizens with foreign background, dependency of social welfare support (with negative signs), and employment rate (with positive sign). Migration rate was defined as the proportion of all inhabitants who during 1991 moved to another area or left Malmö. As a measure of social integration of the immigrants in the areas, we have calculated the percentage of residents with a foreign citizenship of all inhabitants with foreign background in a specific area. Foreign background was defined as foreign citizens, Swedish citizens who were born foreign citizens or children under 18 years of age with one or both parents foreign born. Dependency of social welfare support was defined as the percentage of all individuals in each area that received social welfare support in 1991. Employment rate was defined as the percentage of all inhabitants between 20 and 64 years who in 1990 had work in the free labour market. The variables were standardized by subtraction with the mean level for all areas in Malmö and divided by the standard deviation for all areas before they were totalled to a score<sup>105</sup>. These 4 parameters were selected to reflect different aspects of socioeconomic deprivation in Sweden today. The socioeconomic score correlates with other well-known measures of social status; e.g., mean income and unemployment rate<sup>94</sup>. The socioeconomic score has in several previous

studies been associated with pattern of disease<sup>98</sup>. The 17 areas are thus categorized into high, medium and low areas.

## Statistical methods

### Paper I

Month, season and the day of the week were calculated from the date of stroke. Seasons were divided into spring (March, April, and May), summer (June, July and August), autumn (September, October and November) and winter (December, January and February). Case fatality rate was defined as death within 28 days after the onset of the symptom and this was ascertained by verifying with The National Register of Cause of Death<sup>1</sup>. Case fatality rate was studied in relation to day of stroke onset. Age-specific incidence and case fatality rates were calculated in 5 age groups (<=54, 55-64, 65-74, 75-84 and 85- years). The age-specific incidence rates were determined by dividing the average annual number of new cases over the 11-year period by the average number of population of the relevant age group in Malmö during this period. Assuming that the size of the monitored population in Malmö does not vary by season,  $\chi^2$  test was performed to test the seasonal differences. To evaluate whether the incidence and fatality of stroke occurred randomly in a span of 4017 days (January 1989 to December 1999), a Poisson model's goodness of fit test was conducted<sup>106</sup>. Poisson regression analysis<sup>107</sup> was used to calculate the case fatality rate ratios and corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CI) adjusting for sex and age at the onset of stroke to estimate the effect of time on fatal outcome of stroke.
#### Paper II

Cox proportional hazards model<sup>108</sup> was used to compare incidence rates in categories of married and unmarried individuals, with adjustments for potential confounders. Individuals who changed marital status during follow-up or moved out from the city were censored at the date of change. Pearson chi-square and conditional logistic regression<sup>109</sup> was used to compare the proportion with marital dissolution in cases and controls.

#### Paper III

The expected number of stroke cases in the immigrants groups was calculated by standardisation for age (5-year bands) and sex using the indirect method. Cox proportional hazards model was used to compare incidence rates with adjustments for age, sex, marital status and socioeconomic indicators.

#### Paper IV

The association between different areas in Malmö and survival after stroke was analysed using Cox proportional hazards regression model with adjustments for potential confounders. The proportional hazards assumption was evaluated for all variables by comparing estimated log-log survivor curves for the different variables. Tests for trend were performed by introducing neighbourhood groups as an ordinal variable in regression.

All the statistical analysis was performed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) software package<sup>110</sup> and STATA Statistical Software package<sup>111</sup>. P values of <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Ethical clearance to conduct this research project was obtained from the Ethics Committee of Lund University.

#### **Results and conclusions**

#### Paper I:

### Seasonal Patterns of Incidence and Case Fatality of Stroke

The temporal patterns of incidence and case-fatality of stroke was studied among all patients with a first ever stroke between 1989 and 1999 (7,129 patients, 3,313 men and 3,816 women). The mean age was 75.1 years. The incidences occurred during these 4,017 days of observation with a mean of 1.77 strokes per day ranging from no cases to 8 cases per day. The loglikelihood ratio of the goodness of fit statistics was not significant, suggesting that the stroke cases were not grouped within a certain cluster of days during the observation period of 4,017 days.

#### Season

Incidence of all stroke types together, ICH and SAH showed no variation by season. Incidence of cerebral infarction for both sexes was however higher in autumn and winter. For 28-days case fatality rate, winter emerged as the peak season among men (12.5%), women (17.2%) and total population (15.1%). The relationship between 28-day case fatality and season was significant even after adjustment for age in women (p<0.05) with a trough in summer and peak in winter (RR 1.4, 95% CI 1.1–1.8), but among men the pattern was not significant.

# Results and conclusions

# Paper I:

# of Stroke Seasonal Patterns of Incidence and Case Fatality

the observation period of 4,017 days. that the stroke cases were not grouped within a certain cluster of days during incidences occurred during these 4,017 days of observation with a mean of patients, 3,313 men and 3,816 women). The mean age was 75.1 years. The among all patients with a first ever stroke between 1989 and 1999 (7,129 likelihood ratio of the goodness of fit statistics was not significant, suggesting 1.77 strokes per day ranging from no cases to 8 cases per day. The log-The temporal patterns of incidence and case-fatality of stroke was studied

# Season

season among men (12.5%), women (17.2%) and total population (15.1%). autumn and winter. For 28-days case fatality rate, winter emerged as the peak significant in winter (RR 1.4, 95% CI 1.1-1.8), but among men the pattern was not after adjustment for age in women (p<0.05) with a trough in summer and peak season. Incidence of cerebral infarction for both sexes was however higher in The relationship between 28-day case fatality and season was significant even Incidence of all stroke types together, ICH and SAH showed no variation by

#### Month

The incidence of stroke did not show any significant monthly variation. For total cases, case fatality rate was highest in February (17.6%) and lowest in September (10.0%). Among women, the age-adjusted case fatality rate ratio was significantly higher in January (RR 1.9, 95% CI 1.2-3.0), February (RR 2.1, 95% CI 1.4-3.3), March (RR 2.0, 95% CI 1.3-3.3) and May (RR 1.7, 95% CI 1.0-2.6) as compared to August. The age-adjusted case-fatality ratios between months were not significant in men.

#### Weekday

Although not significant, the most frequent day for stroke incidence was Wednesday for men and total population. Tuesday emerged as the peak day for women. The lowest incidence of stroke occurred on Saturday for men and Sunday for women and total population. The age-adjusted rate ratios for fatal cases on weekdays was neither significant in the total population nor in men and women. There were neither any differences of incidence of stroke subtypes across the weekdays.

#### Conclusions

Case fatality rate following stroke demonstrates a seasonal variation with a peak in winter. Incidence of stroke showed no consistent association with season, month or weekdays.

#### Paper II:

#### Marital status, marital dissolution and stroke

#### Incidence of stroke in relation to marital status

All citizens of Malmö aged 40-89 in 1990 were followed until the last day of December 2000. Those who died, moved out from Malmö or changed marital status were censored on the day of change. A total of 2822 men and 3362 women had a first-ever stroke during the follow-up period. Of them, 2594 men and 3047 women had not changed marital status before the stroke event. Divorced men and women had significantly higher incidences of stroke. This relationship remained significant after adjustment for age, income, country of birth and self-owned home (Figure 2).

High rates of stroke were also observed for widows/widowers. After adjustments, this relation was significant for women only. Incidence of stroke was not significantly increased in never married men or women. The adjusted relative risks for divorced and widowed individuals were higher in young men and women as compared to the older age group. In never married women below 65 years of age, a significantly increased risk of stroke was observed. Approximately 5% of the men and 4% of the women cohabited with a partner without being married. The results were virtually unchanged if cohabiting men and women were classified as married.







Figure 4. Incidence of stroke by marital status in all women and in women above and below 65 years of age. Relative risks (95%CI) adjusted for age, income, self-owned home, country of birth (reference: married women).

#### Stroke subtypes

The increased stroke rates in divorced men were consistent for ischemic and haemorrhagic stroke. For divorced women, this was mainly explained by an increased incidence of ischemic stroke.

#### Incidence of stroke following marital dissolution

Initially married subjects with stroke were compared with initially married controls, matched for age, sex, and vital status at the time of the stroke event. In men and in young women, there was a higher proportion that had been divorced or widowed before the date of stroke among stroke cases as compared to matched controls. No relationship was observed in older women.

The relationship between risk of stroke and time from marital dissolution appeared to be highest 1-2 years after the divorce or death of spouse in men.

#### Conclusions

The incidence of stroke is higher in divorced and widowed individuals. Never married men have not any increased incidence. The risk of stroke is elevated during the first years after divorce or death of spouse.

#### Paper III:

#### Stroke incidence among immigrants

#### Incidence of stroke among immigrants from specific countries

All inhabitants aged 40-89 years in 1990 were followed until stroke, death, emigration or December 2000. The stroke risk showed substantial differences between immigrants from different East European countries. Immigrants from former Yugoslavia and Hungary showed significantly higher incidences. Although not significantly, immigrants from the former Soviet Union also had higher risk. In contrast, no increased risk was observed among immigrants from former Czechoslovakia or in the large group of immigrants from Poland. Rumanian immigrants had a significantly lower risk. The immigrants from Denmark, Norway, Germany, Chile and Finland had approximately the same risk as citizens born in Sweden. The higher risk in Yugoslavian and Hungarian immigrants and the reduced risk in Rumanian immigrants from China/Vietnam was mainly observed in women.

#### Subtypes of stroke

There was a large proportion with intracerebral haemorrhage (ICD-9 code 431) among immigrants from the People's Republic of China and Vietnam. Of the 18 stroke cases in this group, 5 had an intracerebral haemorrhage. The increased risk of intracerebral haemorrhage in this group was statistically significant (RR=4.2, CI: 1.7-10.4) after adjustments for age, sex, marital status, income and self-owned home.

After adjustments for potential confounders, an increased risk of intracerebral haemorrhage was also observed in immigrants from the former Soviet Union (RR=2.7, CI: 1.01-7.3).

÷	
<u>er</u>	
ed	
B	
$\mathbf{v}$	
်း	
В	
al	
Σ	
п	
,	
ld	
0	
IS	
ea	
$\geq$	
89	
Ĩ	
4	
Ś	
Sn	
Ř	
Ξ	
S	
34	
_	
18	
-	
n	
11	
Ð	
p:	
Ŀ	
0	
ĥ	
nt	
n	
5	
0	
1 T	
ō	
ati.	
5	
re	
.п	
þ	
- r	
Ś	
lo]	
ol	
f	
of	
S	
aı	
ye	
0	
Ļ,	
er	
Ň	
0	
k	
0	
ĭ	
stro	
of stre	
e of stro	
ice of stre	
ence of stre	
idence of stre	
ncidence of stre	
Incidence of stre	
1. Incidence of stre	
e 1. Incidence of stre	
ble 1. Incidence of stre	
able 1. Incidence of structure	

(person-years)ObservedExpected(%)(95% CI)(95% CI)(95% CI)Sweden $813574$ $5478$ $5478$ $5478$ $2710/76/12$ $1.00$ $1.00$ Germany $12786$ $78$ $5478$ $5478$ $2/10/76/12$ $1.00$ $1.00$ Germany $12786$ $78$ $76.0$ $3/13/67/18$ $1.01(0.81-1.3)$ $1.00(0.80)$ Former Yugoslavia $31061$ $132$ $92.3$ $2/12/83/2$ $1.43(1.2-1.7)$ $1.31(1.10)$ Chile $2819$ $7$ $7.6$ $0/14/57/29$ $0.89(0.43-1.9)$ $0.79(0.88)$ Denmark $21571$ $1116$ $124.5$ $2/10/84/4$ $0.96(0.79-1.1)$ $0.91(0.76)$ Poland $11751$ $49$ $44.0$ $1/9/77/13$ $1.03(0.83-1.3)$ $0.96(0.78)$ Finland $11751$ $49$ $44.0$ $1/9/77/13$ $1.03(0.83-1.3)$ $0.96(0.78)$ Norway $3515$ $2$ $13.6$ $0.7/77/13$ $1.03(0.82-1.3)$ $0.96(0.78)$ Norway $3515$ $2$ $14.9$ $0.5/59/0$ $0.18(0.96-2.3)$ $1.41(0.92)$ Rumania $3569$ $16.1$ $0.95(0.700$ $0.14(0.04-0.58)$ $0.13(0.95)$ Former Soviet Union $2409$ $22$ $14.9$ $0.6/94/0$ $0.99(0.61-1.6)$ $0.95(0.58)$ Hungary $9801$ $56$ $41.2$ $2/12/82/4$ $1.40(1.07-1.8)$ $1.33(1.02)$ China/Vietnam $2374$ $18$ $10.8$ $6/28/67/0$ $1.69(1.07-2.7)$ $1.30(0.94)$ <th>Country of birth</th> <th>Follow-up</th> <th>No of st</th> <th>troke</th> <th>SAH/ICH/CI/UND*</th> <th>Relative risk<sup>†</sup></th> <th>Relative risk‡</th>	Country of birth	Follow-up	No of st	troke	SAH/ICH/CI/UND*	Relative risk <sup>†</sup>	Relative risk‡
Sweden $813574$ $5478$ $5478$ $5478$ $2/10/76/12$ $1.00$ $1.00$ Germany $12786$ $78$ $76.0$ $3/13/67/18$ $1.01(0.81-1.3)$ $1.00(0.80)$ Former Yugoslavia $31061$ $132$ $92.3$ $2/12/83/2$ $1.43(1.2-1.7)$ $1.31(1.10)$ Chile $2819$ $7$ $7.6$ $0/14/57/29$ $0.89(0.43-1.9)$ $0.79(0.80)$ Chile $21571$ $116$ $124.5$ $2/10/84/4$ $0.96(0.79-1.1)$ $0.91(0.76)$ Denmark $19675$ $87$ $83.4$ $1/9/77/13$ $1.03(0.83-1.3)$ $0.96(0.78)$ Poland $11751$ $49$ $44.0$ $10/4/78/8$ $1.12(0.84-1.5)$ $1.07(0.81)$ Norway $3515$ $22$ $13.6$ $50/50/00$ $0.14(0.74-0.58)$ $0.13(0.02-1.6)$ Norway $3515$ $22$ $14.9$ $0/5/95/0$ $0.88(0.57-1.4)$ $0.87(0.56)$ Rumania $3515$ $22$ $14.9$ $0/5/95/0$ $0.14(0.7-0.58)$ $0.13(0.02-1.6)$ Former Soviet Union $2409$ $22$ $14.9$ $0/5/95/0$ $0.99(0.61-1.6)$ $0.95(0.58)$ Hungary $369$ $16.1$ $0.6/94/0$ $0.99(0.61-1.6)$ $0.95(0.58)$ $0.95(0.58)$ Hungary $2374$ $18$ $10.8$ $6/28/67/0$ $1.69(1.07-2.7)$ $1.30(0.94)$		(person-years) <sup></sup>	Observed	Expected	(%)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Germany127867876.0 $3/13/67/18$ 1.01 $(0.81-1.3)$ 1.00 $(0.80)$ Former Yugoslavia $31061$ $132$ $92.3$ $2/12/83/2$ $1.43$ $(1.2-1.7)$ $1.31$ $(1.10)$ Chile $2819$ 77.6 $0/14/57/29$ $0.89$ $(0.43-1.9)$ $0.79$ $(0.38)$ Denmark $21571$ $1116$ $124.5$ $2/10/84/4$ $0.96$ $(0.79-1.1)$ $0.91$ $(0.76)$ Poland $11751$ $49$ $44.0$ $10/4/78/8$ $1.103$ $(0.83-1.3)$ $0.96$ $(0.78)$ Finland $11751$ $49$ $44.0$ $10/4/78/8$ $1.12$ $0.88$ $(0.57-1.4)$ $0.96$ $(0.78)$ Norway $3966$ $21$ $24.3$ $0/5/95/0$ $0.88$ $(57-1.4)$ $0.87$ $(0.56)$ Rumania $3515$ $2$ $14.9$ $10/4/78/8$ $1.12$ $0.88$ $(57-1.4)$ $0.87$ $(0.36)$ Former Soviet Union $2409$ $22$ $14.9$ $0/5/95/0$ $0.18$ $(0.7-0.58)$ $0.13$ $(0.92)$ Former Soviet Union $2409$ $22$ $14.9$ $0/6/94/0$ $0.99$ $(0.6-1.66)$ $0.14$ $(0.92)$ $0.35$ $(0.58)$ Hungary $3969$ $16.1$ $0/6/94/0$ $0.99$ $(0.6-1.66)$ $0.99$ $(0.58)$ $(0.58)$ $0.13$ $(0.92)$ $(0.94)$ Czechoslovakia $3969$ $16.1$ $16.1$ $0/6/94/0$ $0.99$ $(0.6-1.66)$ $0.99$ $(0.94)$ $(0.94)$ $(0.94)$ </td <td>Sweden</td> <td>813574</td> <td>5478</td> <td>5478</td> <td>2/10/76/12</td> <td>1.00</td> <td>1.00</td>	Sweden	813574	5478	5478	2/10/76/12	1.00	1.00
Former Yugoslavia3106113292.32/12/83/21.43 (1.2-1.7)1.31 (1.10Chile281977.60/14/57/290.89 (0.43-1.9)0.79 (0.38Denmark21571116124.52/10/84/40.96 (0.79-1.1)0.91 (0.76Poland196758783.41/9/77/131.03 (0.83-1.3)0.96 (0.78Finland117514944.010/4/78/81.112 (0.84-1.5)1.07 (0.81Norway39662124.30/5/95/00.88 (0.57-1.4)0.87 (0.56Rumania3515213.650/50/000.14 (0.04-0.58)0.13 (0.92Former Soviet Union24092214.95/18/68/91.49 (0.98-2.3)1.41 (0.92Czechoslovakia39691616.10/6/94/00.99 (0.61-1.6)0.95 (0.58Hungary23741810.86/28/67/01.69 (1.07-1.8)1.33 (1.02	Germany	12786	78	76.0	3/13/67/18	1.01 (0.81-1.3)	1.00 (0.80-1.2)
Chile281977.60/14/57/290.89 (0.43-1.9)0.79 (0.38)Denmark21571116124.52/10/84/40.96 (0.79-1.1)0.91 (0.76)Denmark196758783.41/9/77/131.03 (0.83-1.3)0.96 (0.78)Poland117514944.010/4/78/81.12 (0.84-1.5)1.07 (0.81)Finland117514944.010/4/78/81.12 (0.84-1.5)1.07 (0.81)Norway3515213.650/50/000.14 (0.04-0.58)0.13 (0.03-Rumania3515213.650/50/000.14 (0.04-0.58)0.13 (0.03-Former Soviet Union24092214.95/18/68/91.49 (0.98-2.3)1.41 (0.92Czechoslovakia39691616.10/6/94/00.99 (0.61-1.6)0.95 (0.58Hungary98015641.22/12/82/41.40 (1.07-1.8)1.33 (1.02China/Vietnam23741810.86/28/67/01.69 (1.07-2.7)1.50 (0.94	Former Yugoslavia	31061	132	92.3	2/12/83/2	1.43 (1.2-1.7)	1.31 (1.10-1.6)
Denmark21571116124.52/10/84/40.96 (0.79-1.1)0.91 (0.76Poland196758783.41/9/77/131.03 (0.83-1.3)0.96 (0.78Finland117514944.010/4/78/81.12 (0.84-1.5)1.07 (0.81Norway39662124.30/5/95/00.88 (0.57-1.4)0.87 (0.56Rumania3515213.650/50/000.14 (0.04-0.58)0.13 (0.03-Former Soviet Union24092214.95/18/68/91.49 (0.98-2.3)1.41 (0.92Czechoslovakia39691616.10/6/94/00.99 (0.61-1.6)0.95 (0.58Hungary23741810.86/28/67/01.69 (1.07-1.8)1.33 (1.02	Chile	2819	L	7.6	0/14/57/29	0.89(0.43-1.9)	0.79 (0.38-1.7)
Poland196758783.41/9/77/131.03 (0.83-1.3)0.96 (0.78)Finland117514944.010/4/78/81.12 (0.84-1.5)1.07 (0.81)Norway39662124.30/5/95/00.88 (0.57-1.4)0.87 (0.56)Rumania3515213.650/50/000.14 (0.04-0.58)0.13 (0.03-Former Soviet Union24092214.95/18/68/91.49 (0.98-2.3)1.41 (0.92)Czechoslovakia39691616.10/6/94/00.99 (0.61-1.6)0.95 (0.58)Hungary23741810.810.81.30 (1.07-1.8)1.33 (1.02)China/Vietnam23741810.86/28/67/01.69 (1.07-2.7)1.50 (0.94)	Denmark	21571	116	124.5	2/10/84/4	0.96 (0.79-1.1)	0.91 (0.76-1.1)
Finland117514944.010/4/78/81.12 (0.84-1.5)1.07 (0.81-Norway39662124.30/5/95/00.88 (0.57-1.4)0.87 (0.56-Rumania3515213.650/50/000.14 (0.04-0.58)0.13 (0.03-Former Soviet Union24092214.95/18/68/91.49 (0.98-2.3)1.41 (0.92-Czechoslovakia39691616.10/6/94/00.99 (0.61-1.6)0.95 (0.58-Hungary98015641.22/12/82/41.40 (1.07-1.8)1.33 (1.02-China/Vietnam23741810.86/28/67/01.69 (1.07-2.7)1.50 (0.94-	Poland	19675	87	83.4	1/9/77/13	1.03 (0.83-1.3)	0.96 (0.78-1.2)
Norway39662124.30/5/95/00.88 (0.57-1.4)0.87 (0.56)Rumania3515213.650/50/0/00.14 (0.04-0.58)0.13 (0.03-Former Soviet Union24092214.95/18/68/91.49 (0.98-2.3)1.41 (0.92Czechoslovakia39691616.10/6/94/00.99 (0.61-1.6)0.95 (0.58Hungary23741810.86/28/67/01.69 (1.07-1.8)1.33 (1.02	Finland	11751	49	44.0	10/4/78/8	1.12 (0.84-1.5)	1.07 (0.81-1.4)
Rumania3515213.650/50/000.14 (0.04-0.58)0.13 (0.03-0.58)Former Soviet Union24092214.95/18/68/91.49 (0.98-2.3)1.41 (0.92-0.58)Czechoslovakia39691616.10/6/94/00.99 (0.61-1.6)0.95 (0.58-0.58)Hungary98015641.22/12/82/41.40 (1.07-1.8)1.33 (1.02-0.58)China/Vietnam23741810.86/28/67/01.69 (1.07-2.7)1.50 (0.94-0.58)	Norway	3966	21	24.3	0/2/95/0	0.88 (0.57-1.4)	0.87 (0.56-1.3)
Former Soviet Union24092214.95/18/68/91.490.98-2.31.410.92Czechoslovakia39691616.10/6/94/00.990.61-1.6)0.950.58Hungary5641.22/12/82/41.401.07-1.8)1.331.02China/Vietnam23741810.86/28/67/01.691.07-2.7)1.500.94	Rumania	3515	2	13.6	50/50/0/0	0.14(0.04-0.58)	0.13 (0.03-0.52)
Czechoslovakia         3969         16         16.1         0/6/94/0         0.99 (0.61-1.6)         0.95 (0.58)           Hungary         9801         56         41.2         2/12/82/4         1.40 (1.07-1.8)         1.33 (1.02)           China/Vietnam         2374         18         10.8         6/28/67/0         1.69 (1.07-2.7)         1.50 (0.94)	Former Soviet Union	2409	22	14.9	5/18/68/9	1.49 (0.98-2.3)	1.41 (0.92-2.1)
Hungary         9801         56         41.2         2/12/82/4         1.40 (1.07-1.8)         1.33 (1.02)           China/Vietnam         2374         18         10.8         6/28/67/0         1.69 (1.07-2.7)         1.50 (0.94)	Czechoslovakia	3969	16	16.1	0/6/94/0	0.99(0.61-1.6)	0.95 (0.58-1.5)
China/Vietnam         2374         18         10.8         6/28/67/0         1.69 (1.07-2.7)         1.50 (0.94)	Hungary	9801	56	41.2	2/12/82/4	1.40 (1.07-1.8)	1.33 (1.02-1.7)
	China/Vietnam	2374	18	10.8	6/28/67/0	1.69 (1.07-2.7)	1.50 (0.94-2.4)

\*SAH subarachnoid haemorrhage, ICH intracerebral haemorrhage, CI cerebral infarction, UND undetermined subtype †Relative risk adjusted for age and sex ‡Relative risk adjusted for age, sex, marital status, annual income and self-owned home.

Immigrants from Finland had a significantly higher incidence of subarachnoid haemorrhage (RR=2.8, CI: 1.1-6.8). Of the 49 stroke in this group, 5 were subarachnoid haemorrhages.

Ischemic stroke (ICD-9 codes 434 or 436) were significantly more common in the groups from former Yugoslavia and Hungary (RR=1.34, CI: 1.11-1.62 and RR=1.33, CI: 1.01-1.77, respectively, adjusted for confounders).

#### Additional analyses

In an additional analysis, the subjects were followed until death, first stroke event, migration from the city of Malmö, or to the beginning of the first year they were without income according to the assessment of taxes. The results, for all stroke cases and for stroke subtypes, were essentially unchanged when subjects without income were censored (not shown).

#### Conclusions

In this urban population from Sweden, there are substantial differences in stroke incidence and stroke subtypes between immigrants from different countries. To what extent this could be accounted for by exposure to biological risk factors remain to be explored.

#### Paper IV:

#### Neighbourhood and survival after stroke

The relationships between neighbourhood and survival after stroke was studied among all patients with first-ever stroke during 1989-2000. The patient cohort consisted of 7680 stroke cases, 54% of whom were women. The mean age was 72 years (standard deviation=11.7, range=94 years) for men and 77.7 years (standard deviation=11.3, range=93 years) for women.

The mean follow up time was 3.5 years. In table 2, the number of patients with first ever-stroke and the proportion of survivors are shown by age group and residential area. Both male and female patients living in the areas having high socioeconomic score had higher 28-days and long-term survival rates than had those living in a neighbourhood with lower socio-economic score. These differences increased with increasing time of follow-up.

Cox proportional hazards regression analysis confirmed that the 28day, 1-year and long-term survival rates were higher in residential areas with high socioeconomic level independent of age, year of stroke and stroke subtype (Table 3). The differences in 28-day survival did not reach significance. The 1-year survival rates for all men and for women <75 years of age showed significant geographical differences. The long-term risk of dying is higher both among men and women living in a disadvantageous neighbourhood. **Table 2.** Proportion of patients surviving 28 days, 1 year and the whole study period after first ever stroke by neighbourhood residence among men and women.

			Me	а			Wom	en	
		N (%)	28 days survival (%)	1 year survival	Long-term survival (%)	N (%)	28 days survival (%)	1 year survival	Long-term survival (%)
Age <75 years Neighbourhood	High	391 (21.0)	93.6	87.5	(5.7	226 (18.1)	95.1	90.3	6.69
residence	Medium	719 (38.7)	91.2	84.0	59.1	555 (44.4)	92.4	86.3	63.6
	Low	750 (40.3)	92.5	84.9	57.1	468 (37.5)	90.8	83.1	59.8
	Total	1881	92.3	85.1	59.7	1259	92.3	85.8	63.3
Age >=75 years									
Neighbourhood	High	281 (16.8)	87.5	71.2	28.8	388 (13.4)	84.8	64.9	32.5
residence	Medium	766 (45.7)	84.1	65.0	27.4	1342 (46.4)	81.4	63.5	28.6
	Low	630 (37.6)	84.0	63.0	22.5	1164 (40.2)	82.0	63.2	25.1
	Total	1691	84.6	65.3	25.8	2930	82.1	63.6	27.7
Total population									
Neighbourhood	High	672 (18.8)	91.1	80.7	50.3	614 (14.7)	88.6	74.3	46.3
residence	Medium	1485 (41.6)	87.5	74.2	42.8	1897 (45.3)	84.7	70.2	38.9
	Low	1380 (38.6)	88.6	74.9	41.3	1632 (39.0)	84.5	68.9	35.0
	Total	3572	88.6	75.7	43.6	4189	85.2	70.3	38.5

#### Causes of death

Among men who died within 1 year, the underlying cause of death were cardiovascular disease (CVD) among 80.1% (stroke among 55.2% and coronary heart disease (CHD) among 16.6%), 8.2% from cancer and the rest from other causes. Among women the corresponding proportions were 86.2% for CVD (60.9% from Stroke, 13.5% from CHD), 4.4% from cancer and the rest from other causes.

#### Conclusions

Long-term fatality rate after stroke is higher among patients from residential areas with inferior socioeconomic circumstances. The reasons for this relationship remain to be explored.

	28 days RR (95% CI)	1 year RR (95% CI)	Long-term RR (95% CI)
Men			
High	1	1	1
Medium	1.31 (0.98-1.75)	1.25 (1.02-1.52)*	1.05 (0.93-1.19)
Low	1.26 (0.93-1.69)	1.30 (1.06-1.56)*	1.18 (1.04-1.34)*
P for trend**	0.241	0.02	0.005
P for trend ***	0.325	0.034	0.009
Women			
High	1	1	1
Medium	1.33 (1.02-1.72) *	1.15 (0.96-1.37)	1.14 (1.01-1.28)*
Low	1.31 (1.01-1.71)*	1.16 (0.97-1.39)	1.16 (1.03-1.32)*
P for trend**	0.120	0.173	0.032
P for trend ***	0.233	0.315	0.077

Table 3. Hazard ratios (95% CI)	for stroke fatality according to
neighbourhood.	

\* P<0.05, \*\* Adjusted for age, \*\*\* Adjusted for age, year of incidence and stroke sub-type.

#### General discussion

The purpose of the present thesis was to study different aspects of stroke epidemiology, by exploring the incidence of and/or prognosis after stroke in relation to season and weekday, marital status, ethnicity and residential area. There were no significant seasonal or weekday variations in incidence of stroke. Incidence of stroke was related to marital status, and marital dissolution. Several immigrant groups had an increased risk of stroke. The fatality rates after the stroke events were increased among patients who suffered a stroke in the winter and among patients from areas with low socioeconomic circumstances.

#### Risk of stroke related to civil status

The present study found a higher incidence of stroke among divorced and widowed individuals. Psychosocial factors like social support, social network and above all social capital are important predictor for healthy lifestyle<sup>112</sup>. Marital dissolution or living alone can have negative impact on all these psychosocial factors. Higher risk of mortality from stroke was identified among socially isolated persons in several studies<sup>113, 114</sup>. A number of additional studies identified higher case fatality after stroke<sup>115</sup>, poor recovery in terms of physical and mental wellbeing<sup>116,117</sup> or poor quality of life<sup>118</sup>, suicidal thoughts<sup>119</sup> and post-stroke depression<sup>120</sup> among stroke patients with low social capital. The social support offered by marriage could be protective, health behaviour could differ between married and unmarried people, and healthy individuals could be selected into marriage more often than unhealthy. It also has been suggested that the protective effects of marriage are stronger for men than for women<sup>58</sup>.

The present results show that the increased risk of stroke in divorced and widowed individuals is largely similar for men and women. The finding of similar or lower risks in never married men suggests that selection of healthy individuals into marriage has little importance for the relationship between marital status and stroke.

Although stressful life-events often are considered to be potential triggers of stroke, not much is known about the stroke risk following a life-event<sup>121</sup>. In a recent study of parents who lost their children, no increased risk of suffering from stroke could be found<sup>122</sup>. In men and in women of younger age-group, we found that marital dissolution before the date of stroke was significantly more common in stroke cases as compared to matched controls. Psychological distress has previously been associated with an increased incidence of stroke<sup>64, 123-125</sup> and there is some evidence for an association with development of hypertension<sup>126</sup>. However, even though the results could be explained by increased psychological stress after marital bereavement, there are other possible explanations. For example, an unhealthy life-style could cause marital dissolution. Divorce or death of spouse could also lead to increased smoking, alcohol consumption and reduced personal care.

#### Incidence of stroke and country of birth

The present study showed marked differences in stroke incidence and stroke subtypes by country of birth. Incidences of all stroke and ischemic stroke were significantly higher among immigrants from Hungary and former Yugoslavia and incidence of intracerebral haemorrhage was increased among immigrants from the Soviet Union and China or Vietnam. The Finnish group had a significantly higher incidence of subarachnoid haemorrhage. Immigrants from Rumania had a significantly lower stroke incidence. These differences remained significant after adjustments for age, sex, marital status and socio-economic indicators.

According to official statistics, there are substantial differences in stroke mortality between countries and regions <sup>127</sup>. Studies on stroke incidence have often showed smaller differences between countries as compared to the stroke mortality<sup>16</sup>. Although the comparability of stroke mortality statistics often has been questioned, East European countries generally have high rates of stroke mortality<sup>127,128</sup>. A high incidence of intracerebral haemorrhage has been reported in East Asia<sup>129</sup> and multinational comparisons of subarachnoid haemorrhage have shown high incidences in Finland<sup>130</sup>. With exception of the lower incidence among Rumanian immigrants, our findings are in accordance with those observations. These suggest that the increased incidences among these immigrant groups reflect influences from their original countries.

There were however great differences between immigrants from different countries in Eastern Europe. No increased incidence was observed in Czechoslovakian immigrants or in the large Polish group. Even though the stroke mortality in Eastern Europe generally is much higher than in Sweden<sup>20, 21</sup>, it also has been reported that the stroke incidence in Poland is similar to countries from western Europe<sup>131</sup>. The differences between the immigrant groups could partially reflect the circumstances in the original countries. However, another possible explanation is that the circumstances and reasons for moving to Sweden have been different. For example, Yugoslavian immigrants that arrived during the sixties and seventies were often recruited as workers, while Czechoslovakian and Polish immigrants that arrived during the 80s often were higher educated. Incidence of stroke was also comparatively low in

the Chilean group. This suggests that immigrants from these countries are selected groups of more healthy individuals.

Ouite unexpectedly, Rumanian immigrants had a significantly lower risk. Only 2 stroke incidences occurred during 3500 person-years as compared to the expected number of 14 and both were hemorrhagic. Studies of immigrant groups e.g. all cause mortality in Turkish people living in Germany<sup>132</sup> or stroke mortality in immigrants to the US<sup>86</sup> have sometimes shown paradoxically lower mortality rates among immigrants as compared to the native born population and the population in the original country. The reasons for the lower mortality rates are controversial and several explanations have been proposed, e.g., highly selected groups of immigrants and the difference in the speed by which risk factors and protective factors change after migration <sup>86,132</sup>. It has also been suggested that this could be explained by foreign-born people that remigrate without reporting this to the authorities, which could exaggerate the population at risk and cause too low risk estimates for the immigrants<sup>133</sup>. A study from the Statistics Sweden estimated that approximately 25-50,000 foreign-born individuals that officially live in Sweden have left the country<sup>135.</sup> However the results were essentially the same when individuals who were without income were censored. We therefore believe that re-migration was a minor problem in this study. It remains to be explored whether the low incidence in the Rumanian group could be explained by a highly selected group that emigrated from this country, or whether there are other explanations for that. We have studied all the large migrant groups living in this city in 1990. Since then new groups from the Middle East and the former Yugoslavia have migrated which remains to be further studied.

## Temporal variations of incidence and case fatality rate

Previous studies have reported a seasonal variation in CI. In this study, a seasonal difference in CI was found for both sexes together. However, this was no longer significant when UND and CI was combined. Temporal variations in the use of CT could bias the results for different stroke sub-types especially in case of UND and CI. It is also possible that the detection rate for CI is higher in the winter because patients are more likely to be admitted with other diseases then. However, as the seasonal variation was non-significant when CI and UND was combined, it is our conclusions that no clear relationship between stroke incidence and season could be found.

In our study we found evidences of seasonal pattern of case fatality. These differences were significant for all strokes and strokes of subtype SAH and ICH among women but did not reach significance for men. The studies conducted on temporal variations in case fatality in Nordic countries is very scarce. However in accordance with the present results, one study in Finland found that the 28-day case fatality rate of CI was significantly different in women with lowest rate in summer<sup>53</sup>. Case fatality rate reflects the severity of stroke as well as the quality of care of the patients. As the hospital staffs have longer vacation periods during the summer than any other season and some ward units close some functions etc, there is no reason to believe that improved care during the summer explains the lower case fatality.

Some biological reasons must be taken into consideration to seek the possible explanation of seasonal variation in case fatality. The increased case fatality in winter could be secondary to other illness. Unpublished data from the city of Malmö show that mortality from all causes show a similar seasonal variation (Khan FA). The seasonal variation in influenza infections is well known. High blood pressure is an established risk factor for onset, prognosis and survival after stroke<sup>135</sup> and it is known that exposure to cold causes peripheral vasoconstriction and increase in blood pressure <sup>136, 137</sup>. These factors might explain the increased case-fatality in winter or early spring. There is evidence that fibrinogen is a significant predictor of stroke<sup>138,139</sup>. Some studies showed that plasma fibrinogen concentration and blood viscosity varied significantly in different seasons <sup>140,141</sup>. Seasonal variations in other factors such as diet and exposure to sunlight can play a role and variations in temperature are considered as the main reason for the variations of those factors<sup>142</sup>. Other studies in Australia<sup>46</sup> and Finland<sup>53</sup> further strengthen the conclusion that the observed difference in case fatality was not just due to chance.

We found a few reports conducted about the relation of the day of the week and occurrence, and fatality of stroke. Although not significantly, we found that the weekend (Saturday or Sunday) had the lowest incidence but the highest case fatality rate. This was true both for men and partially for women (lowest incidence on Sunday). In a study conducted in Australia, no significant variation of stroke occurrence in weekdays in the community-based population was found; however among hospital-based cases Wednesday had the highest frequency and weekends had the lowest frequency similar to our study<sup>143</sup>. In the Framingham study Monday emerged as the most frequent day for stroke<sup>49</sup>.

#### Neighbourhood and survival after stroke

Incidence of stroke shows substantial differences between the residential areas in the city of Malmö, with higher incidences in areas with inferior socioeconomic circumstances. This study explored whether survival after a first stroke events also was related to the socioeconomic level of the areas.

After adjustment for age, year of stroke and stroke subtype, high socioeconomic level was associated with higher long-term survival rates among all men and women below 75 years. Although not statistically significant, 28 –day survival also tended to be better in areas with high socioeconomic level. The results are in accordance with previous studies from the city, showing geographical differences in incidence of stroke<sup>93, 144</sup>, myocardial infarction<sup>145</sup> and survival after myocardial infarction<sup>96, 97</sup>. Together these results suggest that individuals with low socioeconomic circumstances should be a target group for intensified primary and secondary prevention. Further studies need to be conducted to formulate preventive measures.

The reason for geographical difference remained to be explored. It has previously been shown that the prevalence of risk factors in the general population, e.g., hypertension and smoking, is higher in areas with inferior socioeconomic circumstances<sup>71, 146, 147</sup>. Whether the areas also are associated with more risk factors among the patients is unknown. This could hypothetically cause stroke events of a higher severity and increase risk of mortality after the events.

It is also possible that secondary prevention, and compliance with the preventive measures, could be different. Treatment of hypertension has been associated with socioeconomic circumstances in some studies, but the results have been inconsistent<sup>148</sup>. The primary care in this city is well organized with universal access and is provided at a low cost in all areas. Previous studies show that, if anything, treatment of hypertension seems to be more common in low SES areas. However, we do not know whether compliance with the treatment differs between the areas.

Another possibility is that the socioeconomic circumstances and the environment per se could be associated with reduced survival<sup>149</sup>. Low social support, low social participation etc. have been associated with

increased cardiovascular mortality<sup>114, 150.</sup> It can be assumed that many of these risk factors are more prevalent in areas with low SES.

#### Methodological aspects of stroke surveillance

The quality of a stroke register depends on its ability to identify all cases with stroke and on the accuracy of the diagnoses. Both over-inclusion and under-inclusion are potential problems. The case-finding of the STROMA register includes a broad search among patients with neurological symptoms (loss of motor function, vertigo, loss of vision, headache, etc, etc) which could indicate a stroke event. Both hospitalized and nonhospitalised patients are included. The medical records of these patients are searched for previous stroke events and the present and previous episodes are validated according to the stroke criteria.

Our ongoing quality work has shown that very few cases die from stroke outside hospital and that very few cases that fulfil the stroke criteria can be added by using the cause of death register. On the contrary, stroke cases that are included in the cause of death register and not in STROMA are almost exclusively false positive cases. Until 1995, all nursing homes were contacted regularly in order to ensure that all cases had been covered by STROMA. However, it was found that virtually all cases were referred to the hospital, and retrieved by the case-finding procedure at the hospital. The nursing homes were therefore not systematically visited after 1995. One measure of the completeness of the register could be the number of stroke events that are detected, and that should have been detected previously. This number is very small (less than 6 per year) and mainly citizens from Malmö that suffered from stroke abroad or at another hospital in Sweden. It is almost impossible to guarantee a completeness of 100% retrieval of cases in a stroke register that monitor a large population. However, there are many reasons to assume that the completeness of STROMA is very high. In our opinion, the STROMA register well fulfils the standards of the criteria for stroke registration suggested by Warlow and Malmgren<sup>151, 152</sup>.

Studies of stroke incidence also require valid and representative information about the background population. It is well-known that most cohort studies have participation rates below 75%, and that high risk individuals, for example unmarried individuals and individuals with foreign background, often are drop-outs from these studies. In this study, information was available for the entire background population, which is a major strength. We also had information about migration or change in marital status during the follow-up period. We therefore could censor individuals who moved out from Malmö.

The socioeconomic level of the residential areas was assessed by means of a socioeconomic score. Previous studies have shown that this score is associated with incidence of stroke<sup>93</sup> and myocardial infarction<sup>96</sup>; survival after myocardial infarction<sup>95</sup>, the prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors<sup>93</sup>. The score was based on the socioeconomic levels in the early 1990, and one question is if the socioeconomic level has changed during the study period. However, the areas with low socioeconomic levels are still the same. We have found that the correlation between the socioeconomic score and the dependency of social support in 2002 was very high (r>0.92).

The main limitation of the study is that no information on cardiovascular risk factors, e.g., individual exposure to smoking and hypertension was available. However, to collect these data from an unselected urban population is impossible for practical reasons. Hypertension is generally considered to be the most important risk factor for stroke in the general population. In a large female cohort from the city, we found no difference in prevalence of hypertension between married and single women<sup>63</sup>. Single women were however more often smokers and had higher plasma lipids. Unpublished data from other large cohorts in the city also support the view that prevalence of hypertension shows small differences between married and unmarried men and women, but those other risk factors, particularly smoking, is higher in those living alone. Several studies from the city have shown that the prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors is associated with the socioeconomic circumstances<sup>93, 147</sup>. Even though the adjustments for income and self-owned home probably picked up much of the differences in traditional risk factors, it is possible that the reduced risk in married men and women partially is explained by a more favourable risk factor profile. Similarly it is possible that traditional risk factors partly explain the increased incidence in some ethnic groups.

#### Conclusions

- This study demonstrates a seasonal variation of case fatality of stroke with a peak in February and a trough in August-September and these differences reached statistically significance among women.
- The incidence of stroke showed no consistent association with season, month or weekday.
- This study of an urban population show that divorced and widowed men and women have an increased risk of stroke as compared to those who are married.
- Never married men were not exposed to an increased risk. With the exception of older women, the risk of stroke was increased during the first years after divorce or death of spouse.
- The incidence of stroke and stroke subtypes varies widely between immigrants from different countries in this urban population. The differences in stroke incidence observed in this study only partially reflect the pattern of the stroke mortality reported from these countries.
- Long-term survival after stroke is higher among patients from areas having the most favourable socioeconomic circumstances. The reasons for this relation remain to be explored.

#### Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Epidemiologi är den vetenskap som studerar sjukdomars förekomst och spridning och hur detta varierar över tiden, mellan geografiska områden och mellan grupper av individer definierade i olika termer. I Malmö finns det mycket goda möjligheter att göra epidemiologiska studier av slaganfall (stroke). Dels finns ett register som följt strokeinsjuknandet sedan 1989. Dels har Sverige en tillförlitlig och utförlig befolkningsstatistik som ger oss goda möjligheter att beskriva risken att insjukna i olika befolkningsgrupper. Syftet med denna avhandling har varit att utforska slaganfallssjukdomen i relation till när man insjuknar (årstids- och veckodagsvariation), var man bor och vem man är i termer av civilstånd och födelseland.

För många sjukdomar kan insjuknandet vara högre eller lägre beroende på årstid och veckodag. Tidigare studier av insjuknande i slaganfall har visat motstridiga resultat. Några studier har rapporterat att risken för stroke är högre på vintern, medan andra har funnit att risken är högst på hösten eller våren.

Vid en genomgång av alla nya fall i Malmö mellan 1989-1999 (7129 fall), kunde vi inte se några säkra skillnader i risken att insjukna under olika årstider. Inte heller skilde sig strokeinsjuknandet mellan olika veckodagar. Däremot såg vi att dödligheten efter insjuknandet var högre bland patienter som insjuknat under vintern. Anledningen till att dödligheten är större under vintern är oklar. Bland de möjliga orsakerna kan nämnas att andra sjukdomar oftare skulle kunna komplicera förloppet under vintern, eller att slaganfallen skulle kunna vara svårare under vintern (Paper I).

Många studier har visat att ensamstående (ogifta, frånskilda eller änkor/änklingar) har högre dödlighet än de som är gifta. Den ökade dödligheten tycks innefatta många olika dödsorsaker. Huruvida risken att insjukna i stroke är olika i dessa grupper är endast lite studerat och ingen har tidigare studerat om risken för stroke är ökad de första åren efter skilsmässa eller makes död. Genom att inhämta uppgifter från Folk och Bostadsräkningen 1990 kunde vi studera risken att drabbas av stroke i relation till civilstånd. Vi kunde också studera om skilsmässa eller makes död efterföljdes av en ökad risk för stroke.

Vi fann att frånskilda män och kvinnor hade en ökad risk, liksom änkor/änklingar. Män som aldrig gift sig hade ingen ökad risk. Vi såg också att skilsmässa eller makes död ledde till en ökad risk under de närmast följande åren. (Paper II). Det finns flera möjliga orsakerna till att frånskilda och änklingar har högre risk. Bland annat kan man tänka sig att skilsmässa eller makes död är en stark stressfaktor som kan öka risken för stroke. En annan möjlighet är att livsstilen hos ensamstående ser annorlunda ut, med mer rökning, mindre fysisk aktivitet etc. Fler studier behövs för att utforska orsakerna till det ökade strokeinsjuknandet.

I Malmös befolkning finns stora invandrargrupper. Tack vare den goda befolkningsstatistik som finns i Sverige kan befolkningen beskrivas utifrån födelseland, något som utnyttjades i nästa arbete. Malmös befolkning indelades i invånare födda i Sverige, Danmark, Norge, Finland, Tyskland, fd Jugoslavien, fd Sovjetunionen, Chile, Polen, fd Tjeckoslovakien, Rumänien, Ungern och Kina/Vietnam dvs. de stora invandrargrupperna i Malmö, 1990. Risken att insjukna studerades från 1990 till 2001. Individer födda i Ungern och fd Jugoslavien hade ökad risk för ischemiska stroke (blodpropp i hjärnans kärl), personer från fd Sovjet och Kina/Vietnam hade ökad risk för intracerebral blödning (hjärnblödning), medan finska invandrare hade ökad risk för subaraknoidal blödning (hjärnhinneblödning). Invånare från Rumänien hade en lägre risk för stroke än infödda svenskar. Resultaten visar att det finns betydande skillnader mellan olika invandrargrupper. Skillnaderna kan återspegla riskfaktorer och beteenden som förvärvats i hemlandet, men de kan också återspegla det faktum att invandrare utgör selekterade grupper som av olika skäl tagit ett beslut att flytta till ett annat land. Det är tänkbart att dessa grupper i vissa fall är sjukare eller friskare än befolkningen i hemlandet och i det nya landet (Paper III).

Tidigare studier i Malmö har visat att risken att insjukna i stroke eller hjärtinfarkt skiljer sig betydligt mellan olika bostadsområden i Malmö. Risken att insjukna är högst i områden med lägre socioekonomisk nivå, dvs i områden med låg sysselsättningsgrad, högt socialbidragsberoende, hög omflyttning och hög andel invandrare. Huruvida den högre risken att insjukna i stroke också motsvaras av en sämre prognos bland de drabbade har inte studerats tidigare. I det fjärde delarbetet studerades dödligheten bland slaganfallspatienter från olika bostadsområden.

I studien, som innefattade 7680 patienter med stroke under perioden 1989-2000, fann vi att dödligheten var störst bland patienter som kom från sämre bemedlade områden. Skillnaderna kunde ses för dödligheten under de första 28 dagarna efter insjuknandet, under första året efter insjuknandet och för dödligheten fram till 31 december, 2001. Det var framför allt på längre sikt (1 år eller mer) och bland patienter under 75 år som skillnaderna var statistiskt säkerställda.

Att prognosen är sämre bland patienter från sämre bemedlade områden skulle kunna bero på att dessa individer får svårare slaganfall, men det finns flera alternativa förklaringar. En möjlighet är att dessa patienter röker i större utsträckning och de har svarare att ta sig till information om hälsofrämjande livsstil eller att följa den blodtrycksbehandlingen som de ordinerats av sina läkare. Sammanfattningsvis har avhandlingen visat att det finns betydande skillnader i risken att insjukna i stroke mellan individer från olika länder. Likaså skiljer sig risken mellan gifta, ogifta, frånskilda och änkor/änklingar. Prognosen efter ett slaganfallsinsjuknande är sämre bland patienter från mindre bemedlade områden och bland dem som drabbats under vintermånaderna. Däremot har vi inte funnit stöd för hypotesen att risken att insjukna skulle skilja sig mellan olika årstider eller veckodagar.

#### Acknowledgements

I am indebted to many people who have taught me, whether in the classroom, seminar, and conference, or by their writings. Many people have helped me by giving encouragement, information, constructive criticism, and by helping to prepare the manuscript. I can list only a few here; the others are not forgotten.

I want to thank all the participants in the Stroke Register in Malmö.

My utmost gratitude to my tutor Associate Professor Gunnar Engström, for his enormous support, encouragement, knowledge, generosity, constructive criticism, patience, rapid reading and for many fruitful and enjoyable discussions.

I am deeply grateful to my co-supervisor Dr Hélène Pessah-Rasmussen, for her enormous support, enthusiasm, constructive discussions and continuous guidance and sharing her long experience from the bedside of the stroke patients.

In particular, I have had the honour of working closely with Professor Lars Janzon, Head, Epidemiology and my heartfelt thanks and gratitude to him for his kind support, scientific guidance, his interest in my work and for spreading his vast knowledge and experience in cardiovascular epidemiology. Many thanks for welcoming me into the Epidemiological research group with open arm.

My special thanks to Professor Bo Norrving, my co-author for his scientific guidance in stroke epidemiology, for many in-depth discussions in stroke research group meetings. It has been a great privilege to collaborate with him.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude and regards to Professor Per-Olof Östergren for providing enormous support for my education in the Master of Science (MSc Epidemiology) programme at the Erasmus University; his encouragement and generosity in allowing me the leave of absence required for the doctoral education. I am highly grateful to Associate Professor Bo Hedblad for sharing his knowledge in epidemiology and helpful advice at different stages of the project.

My heartfelt thanks to Dr. Elisabet Zia, Neurologist, for extending support, friendship, informative co-authorship and constructive criticism.

Professor Lennart Råstam, for providing excellent working conditions at the erstwhile Department of Community Medicine.

I would like to thank Ingela Jerntorp, RN, for her meticulous stroke registration.

Inger Carlsson, deserve my thanks for her contribution in stroke registration.

My special thanks to statisticians Mahnaz Moghaddassi and Mathias Nilsson for support, friendship and many fruitful discussions.

My thanks to Torkel Niklasson, and Roger Linder, for their valuable technical support.

Thanks to Viveca Flodén for her invaluable professional support and excellent secretarial work and assistance in the critical moment with the layout of this thesis.

Thanks to Ewy Rundqvist and Johan Lind for their enormous support and help as the two most skilful and effective departmental administrators.

It has been a great privilege to be associated with the Epidemiological Research Group and I am particularly grateful to Ellis Janzon for that and also for her endless encouragement and support.

I owe a special debt of gratitude for the continuous inspiration and solidarity which I have received from my friends and colleagues at the Unit of Social Medicine, Skane County Council, University Hospital of Malmö, and Section of Social Medicine and Global Health, Lund University during these years.

I would like to thank www.patient.co.uk for providing diagrams.

The research would not have been possible without the generous financial support from Skane County Council's Research and Development

Foundation, Swedish Council for Working Life and Social Research (FAS), Segerfalk Foundation and the Swedish Stroke Foundation. I am highly indebted to those organisations.

I would also like to recognize my family both in Sweden and Bangladesh who have been immensely supportive. My brother Ferdoush and his family deserve special thanks and gratitude for their unselfish support during my difficulties.

My sincere gratitude goes to my wife Boel for her ever present love, support and understanding. She has endured my endless absence from home and overtime work for my continuous education and thesis writing.

My greatest debt of gratitude goes to my daughter Cathy for her love and for being the most precious part of my life, for showing me the meaning of being a parent and for enduring my travels and absence from home. May God bless you!

#### References

- The National Register of Cause of Death. Centre for Epidemiology. The National Board of Health and Welfare, Stockholm, Sweden.
- The National Board of Health and Welfare (Socialstyrelsen). Hälsooch sjukvårdsrapport 2001. ISBN 91-7201-601-9. Artikelnr. 2001-111-6.
- Ghatnekar O, Persson U, Glader EL, Terent A. Cost of stroke in Sweden: an incidence estimate. Int J Technol Assess Health Care. 2004, Summer;20(3):375-80.
- Persson U, Silverberg R, Lindgren B, Norrving B, Jadback G, Johansson B, Puranen BI. Direct costs of stroke for a Swedish population. Int J Technol Assess Health Care. 1990;6(1):125-37.
- WHO MONICA Project Principal Investigators (prepared by Tunstall-Pedoe H). The World Health Organization MONICA Project (Monitoring Trends and Determinants in Cardiovascular Disease): a major international collaboration. J Clin Epidemiol.1988;41:105-114.
- 6. Stroke-state of the art. [in Swedish]. The National Board of health and welfare. Stockholm, Sweden. 1996.
- Mohr JP, Choi D, Grotta J, Wolf P (Eds). Stroke : pathophysiology, diagnosis, and management. Churchill Livingstone, Philadelphia, 2004.
- Adams HP, del Zoppo G, Kummer RV (Eds). Management of stroke: a practical guide for the prevention, evaluation and treatment of acute stroke. Second Edition. Professional Communications, Inc. 2002.

- Brown RD, Whisnant JP, Sicks JD, O'Fallon WM, Wiebers DO. Stroke incidence, prevalence, and survival: secular trends in Rochester, Minnesota, through 1989. Stroke. 1996 Mar;27(3):373-80.
- Wyller TB. Stroke and gender. J Gend Specif Med. 1999 May-Jun;2(3):41-5.
- Wannamethee SG. Risk factors for stroke: overview. J Cardiovasc Risk. 1999 Aug; 6(4):199-202.
- Lovett JK, Dennis MS, Sandercock PA, Bamford J, Warlow CP, Rothwell PM. Very early risk of stroke after a first transient ischemic attack. Stroke. 2003 Aug; 34(8):e138-40.
- 13. Lukovits TG, Mazzone TM, Gorelick TM. Diabetes mellitus and cerebrovascular disease. Neuroepidemiology. 1999; 18(1):1-14.
- Wannamethee SG, Shaper AG. Physical activity and the prevention of stroke. J Cardiovasc Risk. 1999 Aug;6(4):213-6.
- Ljung R, Peterson S, Hallqvist J, Heimerson I, Diderichsen F. Socioeconomic differences in the burden of disease in Sweden. Bull World Health Organ. 2005 Feb;83(2):92-9. Epub 2005 Feb 24.
- Feigin VL, Lawes CM, Bennett DA, Anderson CS. Stroke epidemiology: a review of population-based studies of incidence, prevalence, and case-fatality in the late 20th century. *Lancet Neurol*. 2003 Jan;2(1):43-53.
- Ness AR, Powles JW. The role of diet, fruit and vegetables and antioxidants in the aetiology of stroke. J Cardiovasc Risk. 1999 Aug;6(4):229-34.
- 18. Sjalander A, Engstrom G, Berntorp E, Svensson P. Risk of haemorrhagic stroke in patients with oral anticoagulation compared with the general population. J Intern Med. 2003 Nov;254(5):434-8.

- Hart RG, Boop BS, Anderson DC. Oral anticoagulants and intracranial hemorrhage. Facts and hypotheses. Stroke. 1995 Aug;26(8):1471-7
- Chang CL, Shipley M, Marmot M, Poulter N. Lower ambient temperature was associated with an increased risk of hospitalization for stroke and acute myocardial infarction in young women. J Clin Epidemiol. 2004 Jul;57(7):749-57.
- Engstrom G, Lind P, Hedblad B, Stavenow L, Janzon L, Lindgarde F. Long-term effects of inflammation-sensitive plasma proteins and systolic blood pressure on incidence of stroke. Stroke. 2002 Dec; 33(12):2744-9.
- Mukherjee D, Nissen SE, Topol EJ. Risk of cardiovascular events associated with selective COX-2 inhibitors. JAMA. 2001 Aug 22-29; 286(8):954-9.
- Lindsberg, PJ, Grau AJ. Inflammation and Infections as Risk Factors for Ischemic Stroke. Stroke, October 1, 2003; 34(10): 2518 – 2532.
- Ruland S, Gorelick PB. Stroke in Black Americans. Curr Cardiol Rep. 2005 Jan;7(1):29-33.
- 25. Stegmayr B, Vinogradova T, Malyutina S, Peltonen M, Nikitin Y, Asplund K. Widening gap of stroke between east and west. Eightyear trends in occurrence and risk factors in Russia and Sweden. Stroke. 2000 Jan; 31(1):2-8.
- 26. Thorvaldsen P, Asplund K, Kuulasmaa K, Rajakangas AM, Schroll M. Stroke incidence, case fatality, and mortality in the WHO MONICA project. World Health Organization Monitoring Trends and Determinants in Cardiovascular Disease. Stroke. 1995 Mar; 26(3):361-7.
- 27. .Bamford J, Sandercock P, Dennis M, Burn J, Warlow C. A prospective study of acute cerebrovascular disease in the community:
the Oxfordshire Community Stroke Project--1981-86. 2. Incidence, case fatality rates and overall outcome at one year of cerebral infarction, primary intracerebral and subarachnoid haemorrhage. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1990 Jan;53(1):16-22.

- Thorvaldsen P, Kuulasmaa K, Rajakangas AM, Rastenyte D, Sarti C, Wilhelmsen L. Stroke trends in the WHO MONICA project. Stroke. 1997 Mar;28(3):500-6.
- Burn J, Dennis M, Bamford J, Sandercock P, Wade D, Warlow C. Long-term risk of recurrent stroke after a first-ever stroke. The Oxfordshire Community Stroke Project. Stroke. 1994 Feb;25(2):333-7.
- 30. Bailey RD, Hart RG, Benavente O, Pearce LA. Recurrent brain hemorrhage is more frequent than ischemic stroke after intracranial hemorrhage. Neurology. 2001 Mar 27;56(6):773-7.
- 31. REF 103
- Sturm JW, Donnan GA, Dewey HM, Macdonell RA, Gilligan AK, Srikanth V, Thrift AG. Quality of life after stroke: the North East Melbourne Stroke Incidence Study (NEMESIS). Stroke. 2004 Oct;35(10):2340-5.
- Jonsson AC, Lindgren I, Hallstrom B, Norrving B, Lindgren A. Determinants of quality of life in stroke survivors and their informal caregivers. Stroke. 2005 Apr;36(4):803-8.
- Carota A, Berney A, Aybek S, Iaria G, Staub F, Ghika-Schmid F, Annable L, Guex P, Bogousslavsky J. A prospective study of predictors of poststroke depression. Neurology. 2005 Feb 8;64(3):428-33.
- 35. Sturm JW, Donnan GA, Dewey HM, Macdonell RA, Gilligan AK, Srikanth V, Thrift AG.Quality of life after stroke: the North East

Melbourne Stroke Incidence Study (NEMESIS). Stroke. 2004 Oct;35(10):2340-5.

- 36. Pessah-Rasmussen H, Engstrom G, Jerntorp I, Janzon L. Increasing stroke incidence and decreasing case fatality, 1989-1998: a study from the stroke register in Malmo, Sweden. Stroke 2003; 34:913-8.
- Medin J, Nordlund A, Ekberg K. Increasing stroke incidence in Sweden between 1989 and 2000 among persons aged 30 to 65 years: evidence from the Swedish Hospital Discharge Register. Stroke. 2004 May; 35(5):1047-51.
- Johansson B, Norrving B, Lindgren A. Increased stroke incidence in Lund-Orup, Sweden, between 1983 to 1985 and 1993 to 1995. Stroke. 2000; 31:481-6.
- Harmsen P, Tsipogianni A, Wilhelmsen L. Stroke incidence rates were unchanged, while fatality rates declined, during 1971-1987 in Goteborg, Sweden. Stroke. 1992 Oct; 23(10):1410-5.
- Ricci S, Celani MG, Vitali R, La Rosa F, Righetti E, Duca E. Diurnal and seasonal variations in the occurrence of stroke: a communitybased study. Neuroepidemiology 1992; 11:59-64.
- Lejeune JP, Vinchon M, Amouyel P, Escartin T, Escartin D, Christiaens JL. Association of occurrence of aneurysmal bleeding with meteorologic variations in the north of France. Stroke 1994; 25:338-41.
- Gallerani M, Trappella G, Manfredini R, Pasin M, Napolitano M, Migliore A. Acute intracerebral haemorrhage: circadian and circannual patterns of onset. Acta Neurol Scand 1994;89:280-6.
- Rosenorm J, Ronde F, Eskesen V, Schmidt K. Seasonal variation of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Acta Neurochir 1998;93:24-27.

- 44. Chyatte D, Chen TL, Bronstein K, Brass LM. Seasonal fluctuation in the incidence of intracranial aneurysm rupture and its relationship with changing climatic conditions. J Neurosurg 1994;81:525-30.
- Alter M, Christoferson L, Resch J, Myers G, Ford J. Cerebrovascular disease: frequency and population selectivity in an upper midwestern community. Stroke 1970;1:454-65.
- Wang Y, Levi CR, Attia JR, D'Este CA, Spratt N, Fisher J. Seasonal Variation in Stroke in the Hunter Region, Australia: A 5-Year Hospital-Based Study, 1995-2000. Stroke, May 1, 2003; 34(5): 1144 - 1150.
- Oberg AL, Ferguson JA, McIntyre LM, Horner RD. Incidence of stroke and season of the year: evidence of an association. Am J Epidemiol 2000;152:558-64.
- Jakovljevic D; on behalf of the FINSTROKE Register group. Day of the week and ischemic stroke: is it Monday high or Sunday low? Stroke. 2004 Sep; 35(9):2089-93.
- Kelly-Hayes M, Wolf PA, Kase CS, Brand FN, McGuirk JM, D'Agostino RB. Temporal Patterns of Stroke Onset: The Framingham Study. Stroke. 1995; 26:1343-1347.
- 50. Pasqualetti P, Natali G, Casale R, Colantonio D. Epidemiological chronorisk of stroke. Acta Neurol Scand. 1990 Jan; 81(1):71-4.
- Wroe SJ, Sandercock P, Bamford J, Dennis M, Slattery J, Warlow C. Diurnal variation in incidence of stroke: Oxfordshire community stroke project. BMJ. 1992 Jan 18; 304(6820):155-7.
- Elliott WJ. Circadian variation in the timing of stroke onset: a metaanalysis. Stroke. 1998 May; 29(5):992-6.
- Jakovljevic D, Salomaa V, Sivenius J, Tamminen M, Sarti C, Salmi K, Kaarsalo E, Narva V, Immonen-Raiha P, Torppa J, Tuomilehto J. Seasonal Variation in the Occurrence of Stroke in a Finnish Adult

Population: The FINMONICA Stroke Register. Stroke 1996; 27:1774-1779.

- Stegmayr B, Asplund K, Wester PO. Trends in incidence, casefatality rate, and severity of stroke in Northern Sweden, 1985-1991. Stroke 1994; 25:1738-45.
- Johnson NJ, Backlund E, Sorlie PD, Loveless CA. Marital status and mortality: the national longitudinal mortality study. Ann Epidemiol 2000; 10:224-38.
- Ben-Shlomo Y, Smith GD, Shipley M, Marmot MG: Magnitude and causes of mortality differences between married and unmarried men. J Epidemiol Community Health 1993; 47:200-5.
- 57. Ebrahim S, Wannamethee G, McCallum A, Walker M, Shaper AG: Marital status, change in marital status, and mortality in middle-aged British men. Am J Epidemiol 1995; 142:834-42.
- 58. Hu YR, Goldman N: Mortality differentials by marital status: an international comparison. Demography 1990; 27:233-50.
- 59. Rosengren A, Wedel H, Wilhelmsen L: Marital status and mortality in middle-aged Swedish men. Am J Epidemiol 1989; 129:54-64.
- Mendes de Leon CF, Kasl SV, Jacobs S: Widowhood and mortality risk in a community sample of the elderly: a prospective study. J Clin Epidemiol 1993; 46:519-27.
- Koskenvuo M, Kaprio J, Romo M, Langinvainio H: Incidence and prognosis of ischaemic heart disease with respect to marital status and social class. A national record linkage study. J Epidemiol Community Health 1981;35:192-6
- Schaefer C, Quesenberry CP Jr, Wi S: Mortality following conjugal bereavement and the effects of a shared environment. Am J Epidemiol 1995; 141:1142-52.

63. Engström G, Tyden P, Berglund G, Hansen O, Hedblad B, Janzon L: Incidence of myocardial infarction in women. A cohort study of risk

factors and modifiers of effect. J Epidemiol Community Health 2000; 54:104-7.

- 64. Lindegård B, Langman MJ: Marital state, alcohol consumption, and liability to myocardial infarction, stroke, diabetes mellitus, or hypertension in men from Gothenburg. BMJ 1985; 291:1529-33.
- 65. Simons LA, McCallum J, Friedlander Y, Simons J: Risk factors for ischemic stroke: Dubbo Study of the elderly. Stroke 1998; 29:13416.
- 66. Öhgren B, Weinehall L, Stegmayr B, Boman K, Hallmans G, Wall S: What else adds to hypertension in predicting stroke? An incident case-referent study. J Intern Med 2000; 248:475-82.
- Boysen G, Nyboe J, Appleyard M, Sorensen PS, Boas J, Somnier F, Jensen G, Schnohr P: Stroke incidence and risk factors for stroke in Copenhagen, Denmark. Stroke 1988; 19:1345-53.
- 68. Thompson SG, Greenberg G, Meade TW: Risk factors for stroke and myocardial infarction in women in the United States as assessed in general practice: a case-control study. Br Heart J 1989; 61:403-9.
- Martikainen P, Valkonen T: Mortality after death of spouse in relation to duration of bereavement in Finland. J Epidemiol Community Health 1996; 50:264-8.
- Matthews KA, Gump BB: Chronic work stress and marital dissolution increase risk of post trial mortality in men from the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial. Arch Intern Med 2002; 162:309-15.
- 71. Yusuf S, Reddy S, Ounpuu S, Anand S. Global burden of cardiovascular diseases: Part II: variations in cardiovascular disease

by specific ethnic groups and geographic regions and prevention strategies. Circulation. 2001 Dec 4; 104(23):2855-64.

72. Thorvaldsen P, Asplund K, Kuulasmaa K, Rajakangas AM, Schroll M. Stroke incidence, case fatality, and mortality in the WHO

MONICA project. World Health Organization Monitoring Trends and Determinants in Cardiovascular Disease. Stroke. 1995; Mar; 26(3):361-7.

- 73. Stegmayr B, Asplund K, Kuulasmaa K, Rajakangas AM, Thorvaldsen P, Tuomilehto J. Stroke incidence and mortality correlated to stroke risk factors in the WHO MONICA Project. An ecological study of 18 populations. Stroke. 1997 Jul; 28(7):1367-74.
- Thorvaldsen P, Kuulasmaa K, Rajakangas AM, Rastenyte D, Sarti C, Wilhelmsen L. Stroke trends in the WHO MONICA project. Stroke. 1997 Mar; 28(3):500-6.
- Howard G, Howard VJ, Katholi C, Oli MK, Huston S. Decline in US stroke mortality: an analysis of temporal patterns by sex, race, and geographic region. Stroke. 2001 Oct;32(10):2213-20.
- 76. Howard G. Why do we have a stroke belt in the Southeastern United States? A review of unlikely and uninvestigated potential causes. Am J Med Sci. 1999 Mar; 317(3):160-7.
- Tanne D, Yaari S, Goldbourt U. Risk profile and prediction of longterm ischemic stroke mortality: a 21-year follow-up in the Israeli Ischemic Heart Disease (IIHD) Project. Circulation. 1998; 98:1365-71.
- 78. Rodriguez BL, D'Agostino R, Abbott RD, Kagan A, Burchfiel CM, Yano K, Ross GW, Silbershatz H, Higgins MW, Popper J, Wolf PA, Curb JD. Risk of hospitalized stroke in men enrolled in the Honolulu

Heart Program and the Framingham Study: A comparison of incidence and risk factor effects. Stroke. 2002; 33:230-6.

- 79. Wolfe CD, Rudd AG, Howard R, Coshall C, Stewart J, Lawrence E, Hajat C, Hillen T. Incidence and case fatality rates of stroke subtypes in a multiethnic population: the South London Stroke Register. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2002; 72(2):211-6.
- Fang J, Madhavan S, Alderman MH. The association between birthplace and mortality from cardiovascular causes among black and white residents of New York City. N Engl J Med. 1996; 335:1545-51.
- Fang J, Madhavan S, Alderman MH. Cardiovascular mortality of Chinese in New York City. J Urban Health. 1999;76:51-61
- Balarajan R. Ethnic differences in mortality from ischaemic heart disease and cerebrovascular disease in England and Wales. BMJ. 1991; 302(6776):560-4.
- Marmot MG, Adelstein AM, Bulusu L. Lessons from the study of immigrant mortality. Lancet. 1984; 1(8392):1455-7.
- Stellman SD. Proportional mortality ratios among Korean immigrants to New York City, 1986-1990. Yonsei Med J. 1996; 37:31-7.
- Wild S, McKeigue P. Cross sectional analysis of mortality by country of birth in England and Wales, 1970-92. BMJ. 1997; 314(7082):705-10.
- Lanska DJ. Geographic distribution of stroke mortality among immigrants to the United States. Stroke. 1997; 28:53-7.
- Rubia M, Marcos I, Muennig PA. Increased risk of heart disease and stroke among foreign-born females residing in the United States. Am J Prev Med. 2002; 22:30-5.

- 88. Sacco RL, Boden-Albala B, Gan R, Chen X, Kargman DE, Shea S, Paik MC, Hauser WA. Stroke incidence among white, black, and Hispanic residents of an urban community: the Northern Manhattan Stroke Study. Am J Epidemiol. 1998; 147:259-68.
- Ayala C, Greenlund KJ, Croft JB, Keenan NL, Donehoo RS, Giles WH, Kittner SJ, Marks JS. Racial/ethnic disparities in mortality by stroke subtype in the United States, 1995-1998. Am J Epidemiol. 2001; 154:1057-63.
- Lemic-Stojcevic N, Dundas R, Jenkins S, Rudd A, Wolfe C. Preventable risk factors for coronary heart disease and stroke amongst ethnic groups in London. Ethn Health. 2001 May; 6(2):87-94.
- 91. Lanska DJ. Geographic distribution of stroke mortality among immigrants to the United States. Stroke. 1997; 28:53-7.
- 92. Cooper R, Cutler J, Desvigne-Nickens P, Fortmann SP, Friedman L, Havlik R, Hogelin G, Marler J, McGovern P, Morosco G, Mosca L, Pearson T, Stamler J, Stryer D, Thom T. Trends and disparities in coronary heart disease, stroke, and other cardiovascular diseases in the United States: findings of the national conference on cardiovascular disease prevention. Circulation. 2000 Dec 19;102(25):3137-47.
- 93. Engstrom G, Jerntorp I, Pessah-Rasmussen H, Hedblad B, Berglund G, Janzon L. Geographic distribution of stroke incidence within an urban population: relations to socioeconomic circumstances and prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors. Stroke. 2001; 32:1098-103.
- 94. Sarti C. Geographic variation in the incidence of nonfatal stroke in Finland. Are the observed differences real? FINMONICA Stroke Register Study Group. Stroke. 1993; 24: 787-791.

- 95. Obisesan TO, Vargas CM, Gillum RF. Geographic variation in stroke risk in the United States. Region, urbanization, and hypertension in the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Stroke. 2000 Jan; 31(1):19-25.
- 96. Engstrom G, Goransson M, Hansen O, Hedblad B, Tyden P, Todt T, Janzon L. Trends in long-term survival after myocardial infarction: less favourable patterns for patients from deprived areas. J Intern Med. 2000; 248(5):425-34.
- 97. Tyden P, Hansen O, Engstrom G, Hedblad B, Janzon L. Myocardial infarction in an urban population: worse long term prognosis for patients from less affluent residential areas. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2002; 56(10):785-90.
- 98. Last RJ. Dictionary of Epidemiology. Oxford University Press, 2001.
- 99. Jerntorp P, Berglund G. Stroke registry in Malmö, Sweden. Stroke.1992; 23:357-361.
- 100. World Health Organization. International Classification of Disease,9th Revision (ICD-9). Geneva, Switzerland: World HealthOrganization; 1977.
- 101. Hata J, Tanizaki Y, Kiyohara Y, Kato I, Kubo M, Tanaka K, Okubo K, Nakamura H,Oishi Y, Ibayashi S, Iida M. Ten year recurrence after first ever stroke in a Japanese community: the Hisayama study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2005 Mar; 76(3):368-72.
- 102. Population and housing census 1990. Stockholm and Örebro, Statistics Sweden. 1992 ISBN 91-618-0406-1.
- 103. Statistics Sweden. Annual Population statistical report: Population in the whole country, counties and municipalities on December 31, 2001. BE12 SM0201. Statistics Sweden. Sweden 2002.

- 104. Malmö City Council. Facts From the Residential Areas of Malmö [Områdesfakta för Malmö] [in Swedish]. Malmö, Sweden: The Unit of Planning and Statistics, Malmö City Council; 1992.
- 105. Woodward M. Small area statistics as markers for personal social status in the Scottish heart health study. J Epidemiol Community Health. 1996 Oct;50(5):570-6.
- 106. Rao CR, Chakravarti IM. Some small sample tests of significance for a poisson distribution. Biometrics 1956; 12:264-282.
- 107. McNeil D. Epidemiological Research Method. Chicester: John Wiley, 1996.
- Cox DR. Regression models and life-tables (with discussion). J Roy Statis Soc B, 1972; 34:187-220.
- 109. Breslow NE, Day NE. Statistical methods in cancer research 1. The analysis of case-control studies. Lyon: IARC, 1980.
- 110. SPSS for windows. Release 11.0. Chicago: SPSS Inc, 2001.
- 111. STATA Statistical Software. Release 7. Stata Corporation, Texas, USA, 2002.
- 112. Lindstrom M. Psychosocial work conditions, social capital, and daily smoking: a population based study. Tob Control. 2004 Sep; 13(3):289-95.
- 113. Berkman LF, Breslow L. Health and ways of living: the Alameda County Study. New York: Oxford University Press, 1983.
- 114. Kawachi I, Colditz GA, Ascherio A, Rimm EB, Giovannucci E, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC. A prospective study of social networks in relation to total mortality and cardiovascular disease in men in the USA. J Epidemiol Community Health. 1996 Jun; 50(3):245–51.
- 115. Vogt TM, Mullooly JP, Ernst D, Pope CR, Hollis JF. Social networks as predictors of ischemic heart disease, cancer, stroke and

hypertension: incidence, survival and mortality. J Clin Epidemiol. 1992 Jun; 45(6):659-66.

- 116. Glass TA, Matchar DB, Belyea M, Feussner JR. Impact of social support on outcome in first stroke. Stroke. 1993 Jan; 24(1):64-70.
- 117. Morris PL, Robinson RG, Raphael B, Bishop D. The relationship between the perception of social support and post-stroke depression in hospitalized patients. Psychiatry. 1991 Aug; 54(3):306-16.
- 118. Evans RL, Connis RT, Bishop DS, Hendricks RD, Haselkorn JK. Stroke: a family dilemma. Disabil Rehabil. 1994 Jul-Sep; 16(3):110-8.
- 119. Kishi Y, Kosier JT, Robinson RG. Suicidal plans in patients with acute stroke. J Nerv Ment Dis. 1996 May; 184(5):274-80.
- 120. Andersen G, Vestergaard K, Ingemann-Nielsen M, Lauritzen L. Risk factors for post-stroke depression. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 1995 Sep; 92(3):193-8.
- 121. House A, Dennis M, Mogridge L, Hawton K, Warlow C: Life events and difficulties preceding stroke. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1990; 53:1024-8.
- 122. Li J, Johnsen SP, Olsen J. Stroke in parents who lost a child: a nationwide follow-up study in Denmark. Neuroepidemiology. 2003 May-Jun; 22(3):211-6.
- 123. Harmsen P, Rosengren A, Tsipogianni A, Wilhelmsen L: Risk factors for stroke in middle-aged men in Göteborg, Sweden. Stroke 1990; 21:223-9.
- 124. Truelsen T, Nielsen N, Boysen G, Gronbaek M: Self-reported stress and risk of stroke: the Copenhagen City Heart Study. Stroke 2003; 34:856-62.

- 125. Andre-Petersson L, Engström G, Hagberg B, Janzon L, Steen G: Adaptive behavior in stressful situations and stroke incidence in hypertensive men: results from prospective cohort study "Men born in 1914" in Malmö, Sweden. Stroke 2001; 32:1712-20.
- 126. Rutledge T, Hogan BE: A quantitative review of prospective evidence linking psychological factors with hypertension development. Psychosom Med 2002; 64:758-66.
- 127. Sarti C, Rastenyte D, Cepaitis Z, Tuomilehto J. International trends in mortality from stroke, 1968 to 1994. Stroke. 2000; 31:1588-601.
- 128. Levi F, Lucchini F, Negri E, La Vecchia C. Trends in mortality from cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases in Europe and other areas of the world. Heart. 2002; 88:119-24.
- 129. Zhang LF, Yang J, Hong Z, Yuan GG, Zhou BF, Zhao LC, Huang YN, Chen J, Wu YF; Collaborative Group of China Multicenter Study of Cardiovascular Epidemiology. Proportion of different subtypes of stroke in China. Stroke. 2003; 34:2091-6.
- 130. Ingall T, Asplund K, Mahonen M, Bonita R. A multinational comparison of subarachnoid hemorrhage epidemiology in the WHO MONICA stroke study. Stroke. 2000; 31:1054-61.
- 131. Czlonkowska A, Ryglewicz D, Weissbein T, Baranska-Gieruszczak M, Hier DB. A prospective community-based study of stroke in Warsaw, Poland. Stroke.1994; 25:547-51.
- 132. Razum O, Twardella D. Time travel with Oliver Twist--towards an explanation for a paradoxically low mortality among recent immigrants. Trop Med Int Health. 2002; 7:4-10.
- 133. Weitoft GR, Gullberg A, Hjern A, Rosen M. Mortality statistics in immigrant research: method for adjusting underestimation of mortality. Int J Epidemiol. 1999; 28:756-63.

- 134. Qvist J. Täckningsproblem i Registret över totalbefolkningen RTB (in Swedish). Statistics Sweden, Örebro. R&D report 1999:1.
- 135. MacMahon S, Peto R, Cutler J, Collins R, Sorlie P, Neaton J, Abbott R, Godwin J, Dyer A, Stamler J. Blood pressure, stroke, and coronary heart disease. Part 1, Prolonged differences in blood pressure: prospective observational studies corrected for the regression dilution bias. Lancet 1990;335:765-74.
- 136. Brennan PJ, Greennerg G, Miall WE, Thompson SG. Seasonal variation in arterial blood pressure. BMJ 1982;285:919-923.
- 137. Woodhouse PR, Khaw KT, Plummer M. Seasonal variation of blood pressure and its relationship to ambient temperature in an elderly population. J Hypertens 1993; 11:1267-1274.
- 138. Engstrom G, Lind P, Hedblad B, Stavenow L, Janzon L, Lindgarde F. Long-term effects of inflammation-sensitive plasma proteins and systolic blood pressure on incidence of stroke. Stroke 2002;33:2744-9.
- 139. Wilhelmsen L, Svardsudd K, Korsan-Bengtsen K, Larsson B, Welin L, Tibblin G. Fibrinogen as a risk factor for stroke and myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 1984; 311: 501-5.
- 140. Stout RW, Crawford V. Seasonal variations in fibrinogen concentrations among elderly people. Lancet 1991;338:9-13.
- 141. Woodhouse PR, Khaw KT, Plummer M, Foley A, Meade TW. Seasonal variations of plasma fibrinogen and factor VII activity in the elderly: winter infections and death from cardiovascular disease. Lancet 1994;343:435-9.
- 142. Khaw KT. Temperature and cardiovascular mortality. Lancet 1995;345:337-8.

- Backenridge CJ. Daily variation and other factors affecting the occurrence of cerebrovascular accidents. J Gerontol 1981; 36:176-179.
- 144. Elneihoum AM, Goransson M, Falke P, Janzon L. Three-year survival and recurrence after stroke in Malmö, Sweden: an analysis of stroke registry data. Stroke. 1998 Oct; 29(10):2114-7.
- 145. Tyden P, Hansen O, Janzon L. Intra-urban variations in incidence and mortality in myocardial infarction. A study from the myocardial infarction register in the city of Malmo, Sweden. Eur Heart J. 1998 Dec; 19(12):1795-801.
- 146. Duncan C, Jones K, Moon G. Smoking and deprivation: are there neighbourhood effects? Soc Sci Med. 1999; 48(4):497-505.
- 147. Engstrom G, Berglund G, Goransson M, Hansen O, Hedblad B, Merlo J, Tyden P, Janzon L. Distribution and determinants of ischaemic heart disease in an urban population. A study from the myocardial infarction register in Malmö, Sweden. J Intern Med. 2000 May; 247(5):588-96.
- 148. Colhoun HM, Hemingway H, Poulter NR. Socio-economic status and blood pressure: an overview analysis. J Hum Hypertens. 1998 Feb; 12(2):91-110.
- 149. Kaplan GA, Keil JE. Socioeconomic factors and cardiovascular disease: a review of the literature. Circulation. 1993; 88(4 Pt 1):1973-98.
- 150. Berkman LF, Syme SL. Social networks, host resistance, and mortality: a nine-year follow-up study of Alameda County residents. Am J Epidemiol. 1979 Feb; 109(2):186-204.
- 151. Sudlow CL, Warlow CP. Comparing stroke incidence worldwide: what makes studies comparable? Stroke 1996 Mar; 27(3):550-8.

 Malmgren R, Warlow C, Bamford J, Sandercock P. Geographical and secular trends in stroke incidence. Lancet. 1987 Nov 21; (8569):1196-200.